
(Action)

(Information)

(Information)

(Information)

(Information)

 

Regular Meeting Agenda
Pioneer Middle School, 1750 Bob's Hollow Lane, DuPont, WA

 

Wednesday, October 19, 2022 06:00 PM

I. CALL TO ORDER

A. Pledge of Allegiance
B. Roll Call
C. Approval of Agenda

II. PRESENTATION - Community Partner Recognition - Mince
Mercantile
Presenter: Shawn Lewis

III. COMMENTS FROM THE AUDIENCE

Members of the audience wishing to comment on specific items on this agenda will be allowed to comment briefly during the Comments from

the Audience portion of the agenda. Those wishing to speak will please sign the Speaker List in order to be recognized by the Board. Please

limit your comments to three (3) minutes. The Board will not entertain comments during any other part of the meeting. Remarks of a

negative nature singling out specific employees, other than the Board or Superintendent, will not be heard outside of Executive Session. The

Board reserves the right to terminate presentations containing personal attacks on individuals.

IV. REPORTS

A. Steilacoom High School Advanced Placement Scores
Presenter: Jessica Soete

Steilacoom High School 21-22 AP Data Presentation.pdf (p. 4)

B. Legislative Update
Presenter: Victor Hogan

Regularly scheduled meetings of the Board of Directors of the  Steilacoom Historical School District 1 are digitally recorded.

Packet page 1 of 185

https://app.eduportal.com/documents/view/847873


(Action)

(Action)

(Information)

(Action)

(Information)

(Information)

(Information)

V. CONSENT AGENDA

The purpose of the consent agenda is to reduce time going through motion, second and voting on issues of common consent. Any Board

member can ask for any item to be removed from the consent agenda. There is no discussion of items on the consent agenda. By motion of

the Board, remaining items are approved without discussion as part of the consent agenda. Discussion of items removed from the consent

agenda occurs immediately following action on the consent agenda.

Approval of Financial Reports.pdf (p. 16)

Approval of September and October 2022 Accounts Payable and September 2022 Payroll.pdf (p.
27)

Approval of September 21 2022 Regular Meeting Minutes.pdf (p. 28)

Approval of Certificated Personnel Report.pdf (p. 34)

Approval of Classified Personnel Report.pdf (p. 35)

Approval of Maintenance Facility Change Order #4.pdf (p. 36)

VI. OLD BUSINESS

A. Approval of Bond Resolution 901-10-19-22
Presenter: Shawn Lewis

Bond Resolution 901-10-19-22.pdf (p. 70)

B. IMC - Social Studies Curriculum Update
Presenter: Paul Harvey

IMC Social Studies Curriculum Update.pdf (p. 84)

VII. NEW BUSINESS

A. First Reading of Policy 6700 Nutrition, Health, and Physical
Education
Presenter: Paul Harvey

Policy 6700 Nutrition Health and Physical Education.pdf (p. 112)

B. Pioneer Advisory Pilot Update
Presenter: Paul Harvey and JoAnne Fernandes

Pioneer Advisory Pilot Update.pdf (p. 118)

C. District and School Improvement Plan Highlights
Presenter: Paul Harvey, Laurie Vallieres, Jake Tyrrell

District and School Improvement Plan Highlights.pdf (p. 125)

D. Capital Facilities Plan Draft
Presenter: Shawn Lewis

2023-2028 Capital Facilities Plan Draft.pdf (p. 150)

Regularly scheduled meetings of the Board of Directors of the  Steilacoom Historical School District 1 are digitally recorded.

Packet page 2 of 185

https://app.eduportal.com/documents/view/847658
https://app.eduportal.com/documents/view/848113
https://app.eduportal.com/documents/view/846516
https://app.eduportal.com/documents/view/848221
https://app.eduportal.com/documents/view/847996
https://app.eduportal.com/documents/view/846502
https://app.eduportal.com/documents/view/847271
https://app.eduportal.com/documents/view/847724
https://app.eduportal.com/documents/view/845615
https://app.eduportal.com/documents/view/848087
https://app.eduportal.com/documents/view/848112
https://app.eduportal.com/documents/view/847657


(Information)

(Information)

(Action)

VIII. BOARD COMMUNICATION

IX. ANNOUNCEMENTS

X. ADJOURNMENT

Regularly scheduled meetings of the Board of Directors of the  Steilacoom Historical School District 1 are digitally recorded.

Packet page 3 of 185



STEILACOOM HIGH SCHOOL 
AP DATA

2021-2022
School Year

October 19, 2022

Packet page 4 of 185



OVERALL AP PICTURE

Total Students Tested: 151 Total Exams Taken: 235
Exam Subject Number of Exams Average Score Scores of 4-5 Scores of 3 +

2-D Art & Design 13 2.92 4 9 (69.2%)

Calculus AB 11 3.09 5 7 (63.6%)

Calculus BC 2 4.00 1 1 (100%)

Calculus BC: AB Subscore 2 4.50 2 2 (100%)

Computer Sci. Principles 17 3.47 10 15 (88.2%)

English Language and Composition 30 3.23 14 18 (60%)

English Literature and Composition 21 3.52 11 18 (85.7%)

Environmental Science 17 3.18 9 12 (70.6%)

Packet page 5 of 185



OVERALL AP PICTURE

Total Students Tested: 151 Total Exams Taken: 235
Exam Subject Number of Exams Average Score Scores of 4 or 5 Scores of 3 +

Physics 1 1 2.00 0 0

Psychology 27 3.04 11 18 (66.7%)

Spanish Language 
Culture

6 3.67 3 6 (100%)

Statistics 10 2.50 0 5 (50%)

US Govern. & Politics 19 3.42 11 12 (63.2%)

US History 20 3.35 11 13 (65%)

World History : Modern 48 3.17 20 31 (64.6%)

Packet page 6 of 185



STUDENT RECOGNITION

62% of AP students attempted AP courses & sat for AP Exams
245 enrolled/151 tested

72.97% Passed at least 1 exam 
score of 3 or higher

46% Students earned a score of 4 or 5 
on at least 1 exam 

25% Students earned a score of 5 
on at least 1 exam

38% Students took multiple exams
Packet page 7 of 185



STUDENT RECOGNITION

9 students earned a score of 5 

on multiple exams

23 AP Scholars 
3 or higher on 3 or more exams

5 AP Scholars with Honors 
Average score of 3.25 on all exams attempted

3 or higher on 4 or more exams

10 AP Scholars with Distinction 
Average score of 3.5 on all exams attempted

3 or higher on 5 or more exams
Packet page 8 of 185



*STEILACOOM SCORES OF
3+OVER THE PAST 5 YEARS

60 60
64

68

73

61
63

65
68 68

60 61 62
64 63

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

SHS Washington Global Packet page 9 of 185



PROGRAM GROWTH OVER THE PAST 5 YEARS

234
246

270

205

151

397 403

462

325

235

140
157

184

127
110

60 64 68 62
73

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Students Exams Students Passing Pass Rate Packet page 10 of 185



ADVANCED PLACEMENT DEMOGRAPHICS

0

19
7

25

166

19
11

AP Students Demographics By Ethnicity 

American Indian or Alaska Native: 0 Asian: 19
Black or African American: 7 Hispanic or Latino: 25
Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander: 1 White: 66
Two or More Races: 19 No Response: 11

Packet page 11 of 185



ADVANCED PLACEMENT DEMOGRAPHICS

41%

55%

4%

AP Students By Gender

Male: 61 Female: 81 Another: 6

Packet page 12 of 185



STUDENT RECEIVING SPECIAL SERVICES

1

15

5

18

11

1

15

12

1

22

8

4

32

13

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

504 IEP Free and Reduced Lunch

AP Demographics by Specialized Services

#REF! 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 Packet page 13 of 185



PLANS FOR THE FUTURE

 Traditional testing will be offered to students in the 2022-2023 school year

 Continue to make “equitable access a guiding principle…by giving all willing and academically 
prepared students the opportunity to participate in AP. [Eliminate] barriers that restrict access to 
AP for students from ethnic, racial and socioeconomic groups that have been traditionally 
underserved.”

 Earlier identification of AP potential using middle school and high school SBAC performance

 Communicating that benchmark tests are being used to determine potential and the availability 
of AP at 9th grade level to middle school students

 Increase communication of Running Start vs. Advanced Placement, the benefits and pitfalls of 
each (teachers, counselors, college & career guidance)

 AP Classroom – Online resource – take assessments designed by college board to help prep for 
exams (teacher tracking and aligned to skills/standards)

Packet page 14 of 185



QUESTIONS 
FROM THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Packet page 15 of 185



Packet page 16 of 185



Packet page 17 of 185



Packet page 18 of 185



Packet page 19 of 185



Packet page 20 of 185



Packet page 21 of 185



Packet page 22 of 185



Packet page 23 of 185



Packet page 24 of 185



Packet page 25 of 185



Packet page 26 of 185



Packet page 27 of 185



Regularly scheduled meetings of the Board of Directors of the Steilacoom Historical School District No. 1 are digitally recorded. 

Page 1 of 4 
 

 

Regular Meeting Minutes 
Anderson Island Elementary School · 13005 Camus Road · Anderson Island, WA 

September 21, 2022  
 
 
I. CALL TO ORDER 

Chair Rohrer called the meeting to order at 5:42 pm. 
Executive Director Susanne Beauchaine led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
Chair Rohrer, Vice Chair McDonald, Director Hogan, Director Scott, and Director Tinsley all present. 
Director Scott made a motion to approve the agenda, Director McDonald seconded the motion, and 
the motion passed (5/0). 

 
II. PRESENTATIONS 
 

A. Anderson Island Elementary Welcome/Introduction of New Staff 
Anderson Island Elementary Principal Susan Greer welcomed the school board to Anderson 
Island, and introduced new AIE staff for the 2022-23 school year. New staff include 
Cara Kamel (2nd/3rd grade teacher) and Ted Nussbaum (multi-grade teacher). 

 
B. Community Recognition American Legion Post 265 
Executive Director Shawn Lewis introduced Susan Greer, who recognized American Legion Post 
265 for their continued support of Anderson Island Elementary students. Gabe Sachwitz was 
present to represent the Post.  On the 100th day of school, together with Booster Club, the Post 
provides shoes each year for every student on the island. They also sponsor field trips, share 
their flag retirement ceremonies with students, donate books and time reading to the students, 
and participate in Veterans Day assemblies, where they bring memorabilia and share military 
experiences with the students. 

 
III. COMMENTS FROM THE AUDIENCE 

• Mandrake Holmquist, Anderson Island resident, commented regarding her daughter’s 
experiences in the district. 

• Samantha Music-Siridakis, Anderson Island resident, shared her desire for Anderson Island 
Elementary to be expanded through fifth grade.  

• Brayden Heitzman, an Anderson Island Elementary student, spoke regarding food service on 
the island. 

• Toni Heitzman, Anderson Island resident, shared her concern regarding lack of full-time 
administration at Anderson Island Elementary and her desire for students who live on 
Anderson Island to have the same opportunities that mainland students have. 

• Sara Mossman, Anderson Island resident, shared her appreciation for Principal Susan Greer, 
the district’s emphasis on social emotional learning, and Anderson Island Elementary’s 
learning programs. She also shared hopes the school extend to fifth grade. 

Packet page 28 of 185



Regularly scheduled meetings of the Board of Directors of the Steilacoom Historical School District No. 1 are digitally recorded. 

Page 2 of 4 
 

• Chair Rohrer shared communication from Angela Kroll, which was emailed to the district, 
regarding concerns about the pickup situation at Steilacoom High School.  This 
communication will be a part of the minutes of this meeting. 

 
 
IV. REPORTS 
 

A. Bond Project Proposal 
Shawn Lewis, Executive Director of Community Relations and Planning, shared bond election 
data and a bond planning report. Chair Rohrer encouraged community members in attendance 
to participate in the community bond planning committee, and shared that a bond presentation 
will also take place on Anderson Island. Director Hogan also encouraged Anderson Island 
community members to share their voices on the community bond planning committee. 

 
B. Legislative Assembly Report 
Director Hogan shared a legislative assembly report. Specific areas of interest this session 
include improving health and safety, supporting special education programs, funding that 
reflects reality, and other important topics. Director Hogan will participate in the WSSDA 
General Assembly as SHSD’s voting delegate on September 30 and October 1. 

 
V. CONSENT AGENDA 

Director McDonald made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda, Director Tinsley seconded the 
motion, and the motion passed (5/0). The Consent Agenda included Financial Reports; August and 
September 2022 Accounts Payable including August 2022 Payroll; August 24, 2022 Regular Board 
Meeting Minutes; Personnel Reports; and IT Surplus. 

 
VI. OLD BUSINESS 
 

A. Second Reading of Policy 6970 Naming Schools and Facilities 
Executive Director Shawn Lewis presented the second reading of Policy 6970 Naming Schools 
and Facilities There have been no changes since the first reading of Policy 6970 at the August 24, 
2022 Regular Board Meeting. 
Director Scott made a motion to adopt Policy 6970 Naming Schools and Facilities, Director 
Hogan seconded the motion, and the motion passed (5/0). 

 
B. Second Reading of Policy 4218 Language Access Plan 
Executive Director Shawn Lewis presented the second reading of Policy 4218 Language Access 
Plan. There have been no changes since the first reading of Policy 4218 at the August 24, 2022 
Regular Board Meeting. 
Director Tinsley made a motion to adopt Policy 4218 Language Access Plan, Director McDonald 
seconded the motion, and the motion passed (5/0). 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Packet page 29 of 185



Regularly scheduled meetings of the Board of Directors of the Steilacoom Historical School District No. 1 are digitally recorded. 

Page 3 of 4 
 

VII. NEW BUSINESS 
 

A. First Reading of Policy 1410 Executive or Closed Sessions 
Executive Director Shawn Lewis presented Policy 1410 Executive or Closed Sessions. The 
revisions provided in this update provide minor clarifications to existing policy. Director Scott  
made a motion to approve Policy 1410 Executive or Closed Sessions, Director Hogan seconded 
the motion, and the motion passed (5/0). 

 
B. First Reading of Policy 3122 Excused and Unexcused Absences 
Executive Director Gudrun Sullivan presented Policy 3122 Excused and Unexcused Absences. 
The policy has been revised to align with changes due to the passage of HB 1834, concerning 
student excused absences for mental health reasons. HB 1834 updated the definition of an 
excused absence to include mental health symptoms, illnesses, and conditions, as well as 
appointments for mental health care. Additional revisions to the policy provide additional 
details about absences from asynchronous and synchronous online instruction and remove 
language about marking unexcused absences from remote learning and "non-truancy remote 
learning" absences. 
Director McDonald made a motion to adopt Policy 3122 Excused and Unexcused Absences, 
Director Tinsley seconded the motion, and the motion passed (5/0). 

 
C. First Reading of Policy 5011 Sexual Harassment of District Staff Prohibited 
Executive Director Susanne Beauchaine presented Policy 5011 Sexual Harassment of District 
Staff Prohibited. The revision to this policy provides clarification and aligns with current practice, 
that the district follows the detailed investigation process in Policy and Procedure 3205 when 
responding to complaints involving staff. 
Director Scott made a motion to adopt Policy 5011 Sexual Harassment of District Staff 
Prohibited, Director Hogan seconded the motion, and the motion passed (5/0). 

 
D. Approval of Revised 2022-23 School Year Student Fee Schedule 
Melissa Beard, Chief of Finance and Operations, presented the board with a revised 2022-23 
School Year Student Fee Schedule.  Budgets for sports and clubs are created in the spring for the 
following school year. Part of this process includes setting fees for participation, and presenting 
the fees to the board for their approval. The fee schedule approved by the board in May did not 
include a fee for a dance club. A dance club has since been created and would now like to 
charge a fee to students to participate. This late addition to the previously approved and 
published Fee Schedule requires board action to amend the 2022-23 School Year Student Fee 
Schedule. 
Director McDonald made a motion to approve the revised 2022-23 School Year Student Fee 
Schedule, Director Tinsley seconded the motion, and the motion passed (5/0). 

 
E. Board Coffee Chat Update 
Director Scott shared he and Director Hogan received comments regarding having more Scout 
participation in our schools.  Director Hogan shared that a JROTC new facility (included in the 
bond planning) would allow for partnership and collaboration with JROTC and Scouts in the 
future. Director Tinsley and Chair Rohrer had a discussion with a community member regarding 
more diversity in the district and school ratings online. They also enjoyed their quality time with 

Packet page 30 of 185



Regularly scheduled meetings of the Board of Directors of the Steilacoom Historical School District No. 1 are digitally recorded. 

Page 4 of 4 
 

the residents on Anderson Island. Chair Rohrer thanked community members for taking the 
time to join the board for these chats, and sharing what is important to the community.  
 

 
VIII. BOARD COMMUNICATION 

• No board communication. 
 
IX. ANNOUNCEMENTS 

• Director Scott shared the SHS girls’ swim & dive team has a wonderful turn-out again this 
year, and has started their season out great. They have another meet tomorrow.  

• Director Tinsley shared her appreciation of the Success Conferences, and thanked all district 
staff for getting the school year off to a great start. 

 
X. ADJOURNMENT 

Director Scott made a motion to adjourn the meeting at 6:29 pm, Director Hogan seconded the 
motion, and the motion passed (5/0). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  ________________________________ 
  (Chair) 
 
  ________________________________  
      
      
  ________________________________ 
 
 
_______________________________ ________________________________ 
(Secretary/Superintendent)  
  
  ________________________________ 

 

Packet page 31 of 185



School board committee members, parents, administrators, and parents, 

 

 I write to you today to beg you to address the pickup situation at Steilacoom High School. Between my 
emails on 9/1/22, 9/12/22, and 9/20/22, and a phone call to Mr. Miller on 9/8/22 where I addressed my 
concerns, there has been little done to remedy the chaos or provide any additional communication with 
parents. My concerns center around returning to what I have been told is the pre-covid process where 
all parent drop-offs and pickups occur through the first loop off of Sentinel Drive, while the second loop 
is utilized by the buses. My son is a sophomore, so I was only familiar with the system from last year 
where both loops were utilized for parents, and the buses used the student parking lot, and in my 
opinion that was the much better option for many reasons. The concerns I have expressed to the school 
administration include some of the following. I sent pictures to support my claims and am happy to 
forward those to you as well, should you need them.  

• All students are being funneled through the front doors at the end of the day, resulting in huge 
clusters of students pushing past one another to get out. My understanding is that the first day 
there were even students pushed to the ground.  

• Having all the parent vehicles using one loop instead of two creates a back up on Sentinel Drive 
that stretches to the intersection with Steilacoom Road. Because of this, parents have started to 
drive past the first loop and turn around to park in the exiting lane of Sentinel Drive as well. This 
creates a back of for students leaving the student parking lot as they wait until the parent 
vehicles ahead of them make their way into the loop, or they cross the center line and have to 
weave their way around all of the other parent vehicles.  

• Parents also utilize the gas station down the street as well as the small parking area behind the 
fence on the other side of Sentinel Dr for pick up, which creates a larger cluster of students 
walking in the road and down the sidewalk. I have seen kids on multiple occasions walking in the 
street along Sentinel Dr to get into their parent’s vehicle, but then the parents can’t get out until 
they wait to go through the loop anyway.  

• This extra foot traffic makes a dangerous situation for students and drivers, and only increases 
the possibility of a student getting hit, or cars colliding. Mr. Overguard is out there sometimes to 
help control the traffic so that students can make is safely across the street, but it is consistent 
or early enough to help control the traffic before school lets out.  

• Parents have also started to park and wait for their student in the left drive through side of the 
loop, double parking so that they trap anyone parked behind them in the right pickup lane.  

• There is not enough space for all the buses to fit into the second loop, and at first, they too were 
backed up along Sentinel Drive, making it impossible for students to board. They have since 
started to also park in the small parking lot behind the second loop which further prevents 
students or parents who park there from exiting.  

I can appreciate wanting to get the buses out of there ASAP so that it doesn’t create a back up for the 
rest of the schools utilizing those same buses; I have a child that takes the elementary bus so I know 
how it can impact the later schedules. However, need for getting buses out should not supersede safety. 
I didn’t see a problem with the way the process worked last year, with the buses using the student lot, 
as they could all fit in there and bus students would then exit from the side doors of the school, reducing 
the flood of students coming from the main doors. I’m not sure if this is the solution or not, but it was 
much less chaotic. In any case, it seems clear that something must change. Thank you very much for 
your time.  

 

Sincerely,  

Angella Kroll 

Packet page 32 of 185



Hello, my name is Sara Mossman. My daughter Elsy just began 2nd grade here and we 
are new to Anderson Island, having just moved here from Seattle. So while we’re just 
getting to know this school, we have been really happy with our experience so far. Elsy 
has bonded with Mrs. Greer and Mrs. Kamel and many of her schoolmates and is eager 
to get here each day and full of stories when she comes home. 
 We are big fans of this school’s emphasis on neural education, outdoor learning and 
nature awareness for children, as we’ve seen these benefit our daughter so thoroughly 
in her seven and half years. The initiatives toward environmental sustainability at this 
school are also quite appealing. 
The decision to move to Anderson Island was contingent upon knowing we had a good 
school on the island at least for a few years. (As we began to research it, Anderson 
Island elementary was still listed as K-5 on one Google review so we were excited 
thinking we had a few years before we needed to find another option.) As we’re all 
aware, when children have a positive experience with school in the early years it 
provides such a great foundation for the future and a lifelong love of learning. 
I came here tonight to support this school and our new community and with the hopes of 
hearing about even more positive initiatives in the years to come. 
On a personal note, an important issue at hand for my family is whether the school 
decides to extend back to fifth grade, of which we are strongly in favor. 
Many of us have chosen to move here to adopt a quieter daily life in a more natural 
setting and with a close-knit and safe community around us. Sending children off the 
island at 4th grade is counter to these goals and is a significant concern for families who 
live here, as well as families who may want to move here. My family has already 
decided we would prefer to return to homeschooling our daughter for a couple years 
after 3rd grade if she can no longer attend school here. I’m hearing that at least a few 
other families might want to do the same. For Elsy’s father and I, sixth grade would be 
earliest we would want to send our daughter off island for school and to take on such a 
long commute each way. As adults, we all know how it feels to commute a long distance 
and how this effects our lives. For children, long commutes significantly eat into time 
spent running around outside, time with family, or on other constructive after school 
activities. For children as young as 4th and 5th grade, I also feel concerned for safety 
with them taking a long bus ride that includes a ferry trip as well, with only one adult 
being the driver and concerns of what influences will be absorbed, even around the 
most well-meaning middle school students. 
Even as a new resident I feel very passionate about the future of this island and our 
community. It’s wonderful that we now have a preschool for young children of families 
and hope you will do everything possible to extend this school back through 5th grade as 
soon as possible. 
Thank you, 
Sara 
 
PS. I heard reference to some data showing that children of AI Elementary performed 
better in 4th and 5th grade off island than they had in these same grades on island. I 
would very much like to know more about this study. How many children were analyzed 
and over what time period?  
 

Packet page 33 of 185



STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1
CERTIFICATED PERSONNEL REPORT - OCTOBER 19, 2022

   
Name Position FTE Location Effective Date Action Comment
BROWN-JOLLY MYRANDA TEACHER 1.00 PIONEER 12/16/2022 RESIGNATION

Packet page 34 of 185



STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1
CLASSIFIED PERSONNEL REPORT - OCTOBER 19, 2022

Name Position Hours Location Effective Date Action Comment
DENTON DARLENE PARAPROFESSIONAL 6.50 CHLOE CLARK 10/13/2022 RESIGNATION
RICE LINDSAY SUB COORDINATOR 3.00 DISTRICT OFFICE 10/17/2022 RESIGNATION

Packet page 35 of 185



Packet page 36 of 185



Packet page 37 of 185



Packet page 38 of 185



Packet page 39 of 185



Packet page 40 of 185



Packet page 41 of 185



Packet page 42 of 185



Packet page 43 of 185



Packet page 44 of 185



Packet page 45 of 185



Packet page 46 of 185



Packet page 47 of 185



Packet page 48 of 185



Packet page 49 of 185



Packet page 50 of 185



Packet page 51 of 185



Packet page 52 of 185



Packet page 53 of 185



Packet page 54 of 185



Packet page 55 of 185



Packet page 56 of 185



Packet page 57 of 185



Packet page 58 of 185



Packet page 59 of 185



Packet page 60 of 185



Packet page 61 of 185



Packet page 62 of 185



Packet page 63 of 185



Packet page 64 of 185



Packet page 65 of 185



Packet page 66 of 185



Packet page 67 of 185



Packet page 68 of 185



Packet page 69 of 185



 OF DIRECTORS 
 

STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Board Meeting Date: October 19, 2022 

Strategic Focus Area 

☒  Achieve       

☒   Support  

☒  Connect 

☒  Plan 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
Resolution 901-10-19-22 authorizes a proposition for the issuance of general obligation bonds in 
the amount of $116 million to be placed on the ballot on February 14, 2023.   
 
The funds from the bonds would be used to refinance land and construct a new elementary school, 
a high school stadium, performing arts center, career technical education space and high school 
and middle school classrooms; and make safety, security and accessibility improvements 
districtwide and capital improvements to the District’s elementary schools   
 
After receiving preliminary information on property tax values from the county assessor, and 
projecting enrollment and estimating costs over the next six years, staff developed a draft schedule 
of projects to address the facility needs identified by the Long Term Capital Facilities Citizens 
Committee.  This schedule meets the board’s interests as communicated in previous board 
meeting: 
 

• To ensure the highest priority items identified by the citizens committee are addressed 
based on student needs; 

• To maintain a stable and predictable tax rate within the district; 
• To ensure appropriate management oversight and control over the projects as they occur. 

 
Staff has worked with BLRB Architects, Piper Sandler in developing the cost estimates and 
projected bond issuance and payment schedules.  The resolution was drafted by Faith Pettis of 
Pacifica Law Group to meet all legal standards related to bond elections.   
 
If approved the bond indebtedness would be limited to the amounts provided in the resolution.  The 
district has used a conservative prediction of 3% annual assessed valuation growth.   If assessed 
values increase more than predicted, the district would either lower rates or reduce the term of the 
loan – to ensure taxpayers pay the least amount of property taxes over the life of the bond.  
 
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
I move to approve Resolution 901-10-19-22, authorizing the superintendent to deliver a certified 
copy to the Pierce County Auditor and placing the bond proposition before voters on February 14, 
2023. 
 
Report prepared by: 
Shawn Lewis, Community Relations and Planning 
_______________________________________________________________________________  

Packet page 70 of 185



 
 
 
 
 
 

STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1 
PIERCE COUNTY, WASHINGTON 

 
 

GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS 
 
 

RESOLUTION NO.  901-10-19-22 
 
 

A RESOLUTION of the Board of Directors of the Steilacoom 
Historical School District No. 1, Pierce County, Washington, 
providing for the form of the ballot proposition and specifying 
certain other details concerning submission to the qualified electors 
of the District at a special election to be held therein on February 14, 
2023, of a proposition for the issuance of its general obligation 
bonds in the aggregate principal amount of not to exceed 
$116,000,000, or so much thereof as may be issued under the laws 
governing the indebtedness of school districts for the purpose of 
providing funds to construct, equip, renovate, expand and make 
certain capital improvements to the facilities of the District and 
authorizing the Superintendent or Chief of Finance and Operations 
to submit a request for eligibility for the Washington State School 
District Credit Enhancement Program. 

 
 
 
 
 

ADOPTED OCTOBER 19, 2022 
 
 

PREPARED BY: 
PACIFICA LAW GROUP LLP 

Seattle, Washington 
 

Packet page 71 of 185



 

10053 00008 ii253z279j               

 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 901-10-19-22 
 

Table of Contents1 
 

Page 

Section 1.  Findings. ...................................................................................................................................... 2 

Section 2.  Capital Improvements ................................................................................................................. 2 

Section 3.  Authorization of Bonds ............................................................................................................... 5 

Section 4.  Details of Bonds .......................................................................................................................... 5 

Section 5.  Bond Election .............................................................................................................................. 6 

Section 6.  Request for Eligibility for the Credit Enhancement Program. .................................................... 7 

Section 7.  Severability ................................................................................................................................. 7 

Section 8.  Effective  Date ............................................................................................................................ 8 

 

                                                           
1 This Table of Contents is not a part of the following resolution. 
 

Packet page 72 of 185



 

10053 00008 ii253z279j               

RESOLUTION NO. 901-10-19-22 
 
 

A RESOLUTION of the Board of Directors of the Steilacoom 
Historical School District No. 1, Pierce County, Washington, 
providing for the form of the ballot proposition and specifying 
certain other details concerning submission to the qualified electors 
of the District at a special election to be held therein on February 14, 
2023, of a proposition for the issuance of its general obligation 
bonds in the aggregate principal amount of not to exceed 
$116,000,000, or so much thereof as may be issued under the laws 
governing the indebtedness of school districts for the purpose of 
providing funds to construct, equip, renovate, expand and make 
certain capital improvements to the facilities of the District and 
authorizing the Superintendent or Chief of Finance and Operations 
to submit a request for eligibility for the Washington State School 
District Credit Enhancement Program. 

 
 WHEREAS, improvements to school facilities are needed in Steilacoom Historical School 

District No. 1, Pierce County, Washington (the “District”) in order to provide the students of the 

District with adequate, proper and safe educational facilities; and 

 WHEREAS, in order to provide part of the funds to enable the District to construct, equip, 

renovate, expand and make such necessary capital improvements to its facilities, it is deemed 

necessary and advisable that the District issue and sell its unlimited tax general obligation bonds 

in the principal amount of not to exceed $116,000,000 (the “Bonds”); and 

 WHEREAS, the Constitution and laws of the State of Washington (including 

RCW 28A.530.010 and RCW 84.52.056) provide that the question of whether or not such Bonds 

may be issued and sold for such purposes and taxes levied to pay such Bonds must be submitted 

to the qualified electors of the District for their ratification or rejection; and 

 WHEREAS, in chapter 39.98 RCW (the “Credit Enhancement Act”), the State Legislature 

established a credit enhancement program (the “Program”) for voter-approved school district 

general obligation bonds; and  

Packet page 73 of 185



 2  

 WHEREAS, Section 39.98.040 of the Credit Enhancement Act authorizes the State 

Treasurer to make a determination whether a school district is eligible for participation in the 

Program under rules adopted by the state finance committee; and 

 WHEREAS, if the proposition is approved, the District may elect to participate in the 

Program upon an administrative determination that it is cost-effective; 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 

STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1, PIERCE COUNTY, 

WASHINGTON, as follows: 

 Section 1.  Findings. The Board of Directors (the “Board”) hereby finds and declares that 

the best interest of the students and other inhabitants of the District require the District to carry out 

the plans hereinafter provided at the time or times and in the order deemed most necessary and 

advisable by the Board. 

 Section 2.  Capital Improvements.  The District shall undertake the following capital 

improvements to the District facilities (together, the “Improvements”): 

• Construct a new elementary school on District owned property;  

• Construct a new stadium at Steilacoom High School; 

• Construct a new performing arts center at Steilacoom High School; 

• Construct new career technical education program space at Steilacoom High School; 

• Construct additional classroom space at Pioneer Middle School and Steilacoom High 

School; 

• Make capital improvements to program space and building infrastructure at the 

District’s four elementary schools: Anderson Island, Chloe Clark, Saltar’s Point and 

Cherrydale 

Packet page 74 of 185



 3  

• Make District-wide safety and security improvements, asset preservation 

improvements and safety life cycle upgrades, including: 

o Secure entrances; 

o Critical systems, such as fire and communication systems;  

o Fencing;  

o Security lighting;  

o Parking and traffic safety improvements;  

o Accessibility in compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act; and 

o Community-shared playground and athletic field reinvestments. 

• Refinance non-voted debt used to purchase an elementary school site in DuPont, 

Washington. 

 The cost of all necessary architectural, engineering, and other consulting services, 

inspection and testing, administrative and relocation expenses, on and off-site utilities, site 

acquisition, related improvements and other costs incurred in connection with the making of the 

foregoing capital Improvements shall be deemed a part of the costs of such Improvements.  Such 

Improvements shall be complete with all necessary furniture, equipment and appurtenances.  In 

addition, capitalized interest as permitted by RCW 39.46.070 shall be deemed a part of the cost of 

such Improvements. 

 If available funds are sufficient from the proceeds of Bonds authorized for the above 

purposes, and state or local circumstances require, the District shall use such funds to pay the 

principal of or interest on the Bonds or acquire, construct, equip and make other capital 

improvements to the facilities of the District, all as the Board may determine, after holding a 

public hearing thereon pursuant to RCW 28A.530.020. 

Packet page 75 of 185



 4  

 The District shall determine the application of available moneys as among the various 

Improvements set forth above so as to accomplish, as nearly as may be, all of the Improvements 

described or provided for in this section.  The District shall determine the exact extent and 

specifications for construction of structures or other improvements. 

 If the Board shall determine that it has become impractical to accomplish any of such 

Improvements or portions thereof by reason of state or local circumstances, including changed 

conditions, incompatible development or costs substantially in excess of those estimated, the 

District shall not be required to accomplish such Improvements and may apply the Bond proceeds 

or any portion thereof to other portions of the Improvements, to other capital improvements, or to 

payment of principal of or interest on the Bonds, as the Board may determine after holding a 

public hearing thereon pursuant to RCW 28A.530.020. 

 In the event that the proceeds of the sale of the Bonds, plus any other moneys of the District 

legally available, are insufficient to accomplish all of the Improvements provided by this section, 

the District shall use the available funds for paying the cost of those Improvements for which the 

Bonds were approved deemed by the Board most necessary and in the best interest of the District. 

 It is anticipated that the District may receive funds from the State of Washington pursuant 

to chapter 28A.525 RCW in the estimated amount of up to $2,500,000.  The District intends to 

apply such state construction assistance funds to the Improvements described in Section 2.  Should 

the Improvements described in Section 2 be funded from other sources, including but not limited 

to proceeds of the Bonds, or should the District receive more than the estimated amount of state 

construction assistance funds, state construction assistance funds may be used to make other 

capital improvements to the facilities of the District as the Board may determine after holding a 

public hearing thereon pursuant to RCW 28A.530.020. 

Packet page 76 of 185



 5  

 Section 3.  Authorization of Bonds.  For the purpose of providing part of the funds 

necessary to pay the cost of the Improvements described in Section 2 hereof and/or to reimburse 

the District for such costs to the extent that District funds have been used for such purposes, 

together with incidental costs and costs related to the sale and issuance of the Bonds, the District 

shall issue and sell its unlimited tax levy general obligation bonds in the principal amount of not 

to exceed $116,000,000.  The balance of the cost of such Improvements shall be paid out of any 

moneys which the District now has or may later have on hand which are legally available for such 

purposes, including mitigation fees, impact fees, and out of possible state or federal grants of 

money.  None of the Bond proceeds shall be used for the replacement of equipment or for other 

than a capital purpose.  Such Bonds shall be issued in an amount not exceeding the amount 

approved by the qualified electors of the District as required by the Constitution and laws of the 

State of Washington or exceeding the amount permitted by the Constitution and laws of the State 

of Washington. 

 Section 4.  Details of Bonds.  The Bonds provided for in Section 3 hereof shall be sold in 

such amounts and at such time or times as deemed necessary and advisable by this Board and as 

permitted by law, shall bear interest at a rate or rates not to exceed the maximum rate permitted by 

law at the time the Bonds are sold, and shall mature in such amounts and at such times within a 

maximum term of twenty-one (21) years from date of issue, but may mature at an earlier date or 

dates, as authorized by this Board and as provided by law.  Said Bonds shall be general obligations 

of the District and, unless paid from other sources, both principal thereof and interest thereon shall 

be payable out of annual tax levies to be made upon all the taxable property within the District 

without limitation as to rate or amount and in excess of any constitutional or statutory tax 

limitations.  The exact date, form, terms and maturities of said Bonds shall be as hereafter fixed 

Packet page 77 of 185



 6  

by resolution of the Board.  After voter approval of the bond proposition and in anticipation of the 

issuance of such Bonds, the District may issue short term obligations as authorized and provided 

by chapter 39.50 RCW.  The proceeds of the Bonds may be used to redeem and retire such short 

term obligations or to reimburse the District for expenditures previously made for such 

Improvements. 

 Section 5.  Bond Election.  It is hereby found and declared that the best interests of the 

District requires the submission to the qualified electors of the District of the proposition of 

whether the District shall issue the Bonds at a special election to be held on February 14, 2023.  

The Pierce County Auditor as ex officio supervisor of elections in Pierce County, Washington is 

hereby requested also to call and conduct the special election to be held within the District and to 

submit to the qualified electors of the District the proposition set forth below.  The Secretary of 

the Board is hereby authorized and directed to certify the proposition to said officials in the 

following form: 

PROPOSITION NO. 1 
 

STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1 
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS - $116,000,000 

 
The Board of Directors approved Resolution #901-10-19-22 
concerning this proposition for bonds.  This proposition authorizes 
the District to refinance land and construct a new elementary school, 
a high school stadium, performing arts center, career technical 
education space and high school and middle school classrooms; and 
make safety, security and accessibility improvements districtwide 
and capital improvements to the District’s elementary schools, by 
issuing $116,000,000 of general obligation bonds maturing within 
21 years; and to levy excess property taxes annually to repay the 
bonds, as described in Resolution #901-10-19-22.  

 
Should this proposition be approved? 
 

YES ...................................... 
 

NO ........................................ 

Packet page 78 of 185



 7  

 
 
 The Secretary of the Board is hereby authorized to (a) present a certified copy of this 

resolution to the Pierce County Auditor, (b) approve changes to the ballot title, if any, deemed 

necessary by the Pierce County Auditor or the Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney, and 

(c) perform such other duties as are necessary or required by law to submit the proposition to the 

voters.  All actions of the District or its staff or officers taken prior to the effective date of this 

resolution and consistent with the objectives and terms of this resolution are ratified and confirmed. 

 Section 6.  Request for Eligibility for the Credit Enhancement Program.  In preparation for 

the issuance and sale of the Bonds after approval by the voters, the Board hereby requests that the 

State Treasurer issue a certificate of eligibility in favor of the District for participation by the 

District in the Program with respect to the Bonds.  The Superintendent or Chief of Finance and 

Operations are hereby authorized, following voter approval, to submit such applications, 

resolutions and certifications as shall be required by the State Treasurer in reviewing the District’s 

request for participation. 

 Section 7.  Severability.  In the event that any provision of this resolution shall be held to 

be invalid, such invalidity shall not affect or invalidate any other provision of this resolution or the 

Bonds, but they shall be construed and enforced as if such invalid provision had not been contained 

herein; provided, however, that any provision which shall for any reason be held to be invalid shall 

be deemed to be in effect to the extent permitted by law. 

Packet page 79 of 185



 8  

 Section 8.  Effective  Date.  This resolution shall become effective immediately upon its 

adoption. 

 ADOPTED by the Board of Directors of Steilacoom Historical School District No. 1, 

Pierce County, Washington, at a regular meeting held this 19th day of October, 2022. 

STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL 
DISTRICT NO. 1, PIERCE COUNTY, 
WASHINGTON 

 
 
 

Chair and Director 
 
 
 
 

Director 
 
 
 
 

Director 
 
 
 
 

Director 
 
 
 
 

Director 
ATTEST: 
 
 
Secretary, Board of Directors 

Packet page 80 of 185



 

10053 00008 ii253z279j               

CERTIFICATE 
 
 I, the undersigned, Secretary of the Board of Directors of Steilacoom Historical School 

District No. 1, Pierce County, Washington, (the “District”) and keeper of the records of the Board 

of Directors (the “Board”), DO HEREBY CERTIFY: 

 1. That the attached resolution is a true and correct copy of Resolution No. 901-10-

19-22 of the Board (the “Resolution”), duly adopted at a regular meeting thereof held on the 19th 

day of October, 2022. 

 2. That said meeting was duly convened and held in all respects in accordance with 

law, and to the extent required by law, due and proper notice of such meeting was given; that a 

legal quorum was present throughout the meeting and a legally sufficient number of members of 

the Board voted in the proper manner for the adoption of the Resolution; that all other requirements 

and proceedings incident to the proper adoption of the Resolution have been duly fulfilled, carried 

out and otherwise observed; and that I am authorized to execute this certificate. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this ___ day of _____, 2022. 
 
 
 
 

        
Secretary, Board of Directors 

Packet page 81 of 185



 
10053 00008 ii253z279j               

 

OFFICIAL BALLOT 
STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1 

PIERCE COUNTY, WASHINGTON 
February 14, 2023 

 
INSTRUCTIONS TO VOTERS:  To vote in favor of the following proposition, place a cross (X) 
in the square opposite the words “YES”; to vote against the following proposition, place a cross 
(X) in the square opposite the words “NO.” 
 

PROPOSITION NO. 1 
 

STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1 
GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS - $116,000,000 

 
The Board of Directors approved Resolution #901-10-19-22 
concerning this proposition for bonds.  This proposition authorizes 
the District to refinance land and construct a new elementary school, 
a high school stadium, performing arts center, career technical 
education space and high school and middle school classrooms; and 
make safety, security and accessibility improvements districtwide 
and capital improvements to the District’s elementary schools, by 
issuing $116,000,000 of general obligation bonds maturing within 
21 years; and to levy excess property taxes annually to repay the 
bonds, as described in Resolution #901-10-19-22.  

 
Should this proposition be approved? 
 

YES ...................................... 
 

NO ........................................ 
 
 
 
  
  

Packet page 82 of 185



 
10053 00008 ii253z279j               

 
NOTICE 

 
STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1 

PIERCE COUNTY, WASHINGTON 
 

February 14, 2023 
 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that on February 14, 2023, a special election will be held by mail 
ballot in the above-named school district for the submission to the qualified electors of said school 
district of the following proposition: 

 
PROPOSITION NO. 1 

 
STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1 

GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS - $116,000,000 
 

The Board of Directors approved Resolution #901-10-19-22 
concerning this proposition for bonds.  This proposition authorizes 
the District to refinance land and construct a new elementary school, 
a high school stadium, performing arts center, career technical 
education space and high school and middle school classrooms; and 
make safety, security and accessibility improvements districtwide 
and capital improvements to the District’s elementary schools, by 
issuing $116,000,000 of general obligation bonds maturing within 
21 years; and to levy excess property taxes annually to repay the 
bonds, as described in Resolution #901-10-19-22.  

 
Should this proposition be approved? 
 

YES ...................................... 
 

NO ........................................ 
 

 
 
 
 

       
Pierce County Auditor 

 

Packet page 83 of 185



TO:   Board of Directors 
FROM:  Instructional Materials Committee; Paul Harvey-Chair 
RE:  Social Studies Course and Content Review Update 
DATE:  October 19, 2022 
 
Introduction 
Per the policy and procedure 2020/2020P, the school district will engage in a 
regular cycle of curriculum reviews.  This is a different process from curriculum 
adoption, in which we have frequently engaged over the past several years.  The 
curriculum review process examines our existing courses with the focus on 
describing the current content taught and materials used.  The objectives of the 
review are to: 

1. Review relevance, rigor, and alignment to state standards 
2. Assess the efficacy of core instructional materials  
3. Review the processes and resources used to assess student progress and 

teacher professional learning  
 
Process 
The re-adoption of the seven-year curriculum review cycle is a commitment to the 
board and the community made by the district at the start of 2022.  Social studies 
was selected as the content area for a few reasons.  One motivating factor was 
school board, community, and teacher interest in reviewing and clarifying the core 
social studies curriculum.  Another factor was that mathematics, science, and 
reading had all recently completed adoptions, which provided an opportunity for 
social studies to undergo a needed review.  The other main factor was the age of 
the core materials, which has been a recurring concern expressed by our teachers.  
Our process followed the prescribed steps and content outlined in policy and 
procedure.  The IMC met in January of this year to overview the timeline and the 
responsibilities of the curriculum review.  The committee met 14 times from 
February through September to review the collection of materials; to analyze the 
scope of the K-12 content; to complete a bias review; and to ask and answer 
questions specific to our social studies curriculum.   
 
In late spring, the secondary social studies teachers and all K-5 teachers were 
updated on the project.  During the review process, teachers and building 
administrators were consulted on the curriculum materials used and were asked to 
communicate needs and recommendations as to the future of social studies 
curriculum development in our district.  Communication and involvement came in 
many forms including email exchanges, focus group interviews, and assignments 
of material-gathering and sense-making. 

Packet page 84 of 185



Bias review 
As part of the required board procedure, curriculum material will be screened for 
bias.  To accomplish this step, we employed our district’s Diversity, Equity, and 
Inclusion (DEI) committee members to perform the bias review.  DEI members 
who participated were given training materials and the model rubric.  Sample core 
curriculum materials were reviewed at each grade band against the OSPI equity 
and bias screener.  The DEI committee members each selected at least one of the 
sample units and scored it accordingly during two workshop sessions held in May.  
 
Core Material Review and Analysis 
After many weeks and months of collecting, organizing, and analyzing the existing 
core curriculum materials, a list of all core material was created.  This list is in 
Appendix A and is listed by grade for K-8 and by course for high school. 
To provide more detail to our stakeholders, Appendix A also includes a grade by 
grade and course by course overview of core material used and contents.  This 
format was created by the IMC members after deliberation about what is useful 
course information for parents and the public.  The recommendation from the IMC 
members was to make it clear what core text or material aligned with which grade, 
and also to keep the information succinct so that it is easy to understand and does 
not overwhelm people seeking information about the curricula.  Each of our 
curricula incorporate the state social studies standards.   
 
The following are comments and observations about the curricula, as it was 
reviewed by IMC members and our by our teachers.  
 
Kindergarten to 5th Grade 
The Wonders reading curriculum provides cross-curricular content including social 
studies and science for grades K-3. Social studies lessons and content are 
embedded within our year-long core reading curriculum. This is a good model as it 
helps develop content-based vocabulary and is age-appropriate.  Teachers who 
served on the priority standards committee expressed that there was a need for 
coherence and consistency with content and materials.  Many teachers reported 
that they were developing and planning their content and materials independently 
to match material to learning standards, using a variety of supplemental materials 
to achieve this instructional objective.  Lack of common awareness of what 
materials were being used across grade levels was a theme expressed by teachers.  
This perspective is in contrast to math and reading which have more recent 
adoptions of core materials, and staff have benefitted from collective training 
during the implementation of those new curricula. 
 

Packet page 85 of 185



Middle School 
The listed core texts in the middle grades were adopted several years ago and have 
been used for a long period of time.  The current set of materials have been 
thoughtfully curated over several years and represent a focus on priority learning 
standards and teacher collaboration.  Several years ago, the text inventory was not 
large enough to allow for checkout to each student.  The texts for each grade level 
remained in the classroom and formed the basis of the course outlines. Over time, 
the staff collaborated and procured more topical, engaging, and rigorous material 
and incorporated those resources into the curriculum. The teachers reported the 
development of materials by staff was necessary to stay current with standards and 
relevant to the course objectives.  These selected standards and curriculum 
materials used with students are easily accessible to students and parents through 
the teachers’ websites.  The teachers have made a point to emphasize research and 
project-based learning opportunities and assessments, all aligned to the grade level 
standards. 
 
Middle school teachers expressed confidence in designing and organizing their 
curriculum, but found that time to do that work was challenging.  The middle 
school teachers expressed interest and enthusiasm in engaging in the review work, 
as we have emerged from COVID-impacted school years and it is an opportune 
time to do a reflection and to update the curriculum as needed. Middle school 
teachers shared appreciation for the opportunity to design parts of their curriculum.  
Rigor is a priority for the middle school teachers as evidenced by the emphasis on 
writing and research-based projects and assessments. 
 
High School 
The high school curriculum was found to be relevant and rigorous.  The extensive 
offerings in high school provide our students with a wide variety of content to 
match interests and college and career pathways.  The high school curriculum 
includes four AP courses which is more than any other department in the school.  
AP provides students with access to accelerated learning and college credit, saving 
students time and money if they earn qualifying scores on the annual examinations.  
Teachers shared that creation of common assessments occurs at the school.   

 
Bias Screening 
The OSPI Screening tool for biased content in instructional materials was applied 
to samples from all grade spans.  The tool is meant to support districts in the 
review and adoption processes and is a required component of our district 
procedure for curriculum materials.  From the screener introduction: 
“Representation in the instructional material should reflect the rich cultural 

Packet page 86 of 185



diversity and lived experiences of all students.” There are six evaluation tool 
criteria which include: Variety of roles and character traits; multiple perspectives 
and contributions; multicultural representations; imagery and language; family 
representation; and teacher guidance. The tool has a 0 to 2 point rating scale with 
‘not met,’(0) 'partially met,’(1); and ‘met’(2) options for scoring.  The bias review 
conducted by members of our district DEI committee found that our current 
materials mostly score in the ‘partially meets’(1) score.  The review team attributed 
this common rating mostly to the age of the materials.  There were no 
recommendations to discontinue the curriculum reviewed, though the consensus 
was that the materials could be modernized for contemporary content and student 
interest level.  Positive responses to our curriculum from district reviewers 
included: Our curriculum provides a good amount of useful graphic organizers to 
support understanding; there is a good amount of visual imagery of different 
gender, ethnicity, and persons with disabilities; and there are features that attempt 
to draw historical connections to student’s modern world. 
 
Recommendations 
Recommendations for changes, continuation of practices, and exploration of new 
material are broken down by great span the same as in the findings section. 
 
Kindergarten to 5th Grade 
The recommendation for K-5 social studies curriculum is to use the Wonders 
curriculum as the core content and material for social studies instruction.  This has 
many benefits.  First, it saves the district from buying a separate curricula for 
which teachers would be hard-pressed to find specific time during the school day 
to learn new material and to plan new lessons.  This also provides a cost savings to 
the district, and it is also a time savings for Teacher whereas they can teach literacy 
and social studies concepts and content simultaneously.  The Wonders curricula is 
explicit in calling out social studies and science connections, which prevents 
creating extra work for the teachers in filtering and indexing those lessons and 
units themselves.  Wonders is the adopted elementary reading curriculum, and is 
already accessible to all of our teachers. 
 
In 4th and 5th grade, because of the age of the published textbooks, there are 
challenges with providing access to adopted materials.  The teachers also 
expressed a need to have a curriculum that is aligned with current information text 
standards, which is an area on state and internal assessments where our students 
struggle.  Teachers want to explore curriculum that has project based learning 
options, which has evidence-based support for increasing rigor and student 
engagement.  

Packet page 87 of 185



 
Teachers who served on the priority standards committee expressed the desire for 
clarity on the standards and having common materials and content throughout the 
school.   
 
Middle School 
An interview with the social studies teachers grades 6 through 8 highlighted the 
good and ongoing work the social studies teachers at Pioneer Middle School are 
doing. They have curated an effective and coherent scope and sequence that is 
aligned to state learning standards.  Their curriculum design incorporates the 
elements of Universal Design for Learning (UDL).  This is in alignment with the 
district's vision around Enriched Core Instruction (ECI).  The staff at Pioneer have 
made a recommendation to explore new and different resources including History 
Alive and Open Educational Resources (OER), following this report through the 
end of the 2022- 2023 school year.  At that time a recommendation can be made to 
explore the adoption of new material or to continue use of the current curriculum 
material with per procedure 2020P.   
 
With the need for updated materials for 4th and 5th grade, there is an opportunity 
for a 4-8 grade alignment of standards and materials, which would enable greater 
clarity about the curriculum materials and collaboration across grade levels.  The 
middle school teachers also expressed interest in developing a stronger relationship 
with local organizations such as the tribes and local cultural centers.  The middle 
school teachers expressed a commitment to develop a legacy curriculum that could 
be easily transferred to new staff.   
 
High School 
The high school teachers have requested online access to print textbooks, which is 
a challenge with older copyright dates.  They want to ensure that assessment 
materials align to curriculum materials.  For the Current World Affairs class, 
updated materials were also named as a need.  Finally, the AP World History text 
was named as needing an update due to changes in the College Board curriculum.   
Mr. Terrell has engaged with the High School staff to increase efficacy around the 
selection of standards  
 
Recommendations that emerged from the bias screen included: Make sure our 
district selects material with more representations of families, high levels of 
student interest and engagement, and even more representation of persons with 
disabilities.  
 

Packet page 88 of 185



In all grade levels from 4th to 12th, the age of the materials is cause for review and 
consideration of updating materials.  With the long-time use of technology in and 
outside of the classroom, teachers expressed an interest in curriculum materials 
that have online access.  Standards are referenced and clearly stated in much of the 
material used by teachers.  Teachers appreciate clarity around what standards are 
priority.  This interest coincides with ongoing review within the district of all K-5 
standards as they relate to instruction and grade reporting.  It is an opportune time 
for a review and clarification of priority standards at the elementary level.  
 
For all grade levels, a comprehensive curriculum outline and implementation plan 
using the Since Time Immemorial (STI) curriculum is recommended for this 
school year.  Teachers have varying degrees of awareness and use of the 
curriculum.  Taking a deliberate and inclusive path to mapping out our use of STI 
is an excellent opportunity for our school district staff to collaborate and develop a 
vertically-aligned core curriculum.   
 
Next Steps 
Following this update and with the board approval of the recommendations within 
this report, the IMC and the Teaching & Learning department will: 

● Review board feedback and plan out implementation of the 
recommendations within this report 

● Present new questions and gather remaining details on courses that need 
clarification 

● Provide a timeline and guidelines for grade levels to explore available 
resources for possible replacement of core materials, particularly in grades 
4-8 and AP World History 

● Teaching & Learning will present the recommendations and board feedback 
to principals and teachers for clarity and to plan for implementation of the 
action steps 

● Teaching & Learning will review policy and procedure 2020/2020P to 
ensure that schools are aware of and comply with curriculum adoption and 
new course request requirements 

● Begin planning the professional learning and implementation of the STI 
curriculum  

 
These steps will begin after this update to the school board.  The IMC will report to 
the school board during progress on these steps at the January board meeting. 
 
Acknowledgements 
The committee chair would like to recognize the hard work and persistence that the 

Packet page 89 of 185



instructional materials committee put in over several months.  The members of this 
committee were always positive and communicated well and are committed to  
providing the very best materials for our students and for our staff. 
 
The IMC would like to thank the board for their ongoing support of our schools 
and their interest in this process of curriculum review.  We appreciate the 
opportunity to do this work and we look forward to receiving your feedback and 
direction.  
 
There are 14 members of the board-approved IMC team. Members are listed with 
their representative roles noted in parentheses:  
Paul Harvey (Executive Director of Student Achievement, Chair) 
Jessica Soete (Assistant Principal, SHS) 
Susan Greer (Principal, Anderson Island) 
Stefani James (Librarian, SHS) 
Nuno Castro (Teacher-math, Pioneer) 
Mary Hilton (Librarian, Pioneer)  
Sean Wood (Teacher-Spanish, SHS)  
Sue Cabigting (Office Specialist, District) 
Tina Ridge (Librarian, Cherrydale) 
Trina McJunkins (Teacher, Pioneer) 
Mark Martinez (Technology) 
Kenya Brown (Parent) 
Daisy Ashford (Parent)  
Makenzi Cook (Parent)  
 
Future IMC Meetings: 10/24; 11/28; 12/12; 2023: 1/9; 1/23; 2/27; 3/27; 4/24; 5/22; 
6/26 
 
IMC meeting dates in 2022: 1/12; 1/24; 2/16; 4/13; 5/11; 6/6; 6/29; 7/20; 8/8; 8/22; 
9/12; 9/19; 10/5 
 
Presented to the school board on 10/19/22 by Paul Harvey, Executive Director of 
Student Achievement. 
 

Packet page 90 of 185



APPENDIX A: STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT  
SOCIAL STUDIES COURSE CURRICULUM LIST and COURSE OUTLINES (OCT 2022) 

 

Grade Course Title/Theme Core Curriculum Material 

K Kindergarten Wonders (McGraw-Hill, 2018)  

1 1st Grade  Wonders (McGraw-Hill, 2018)  

2 2nd Grade Wonders (McGraw-Hill, 2018)  

3 3rd Grade Wonders (McGraw-Hill, 2018)  

4 4th Grade Washington Adventure (2004, 2010) 

5 5th Grade America Will Be (Houghton Mifflin) 

6 6th Grade Social Studies World History: Journey Across Time by 
(Glencoe/McGraw Hill, 2006) 
Teacher Developed 

7 7th Grade Social Studies World History Journey Across Time by 
(Glencoe/McGraw-Hill, 2006) 
Washington in the Pacific Northwest by (Gibbs Smith, 
2002) 
Teacher Developed 

8 US History The American Journey (Glencoe/McGraw-Hill, 2012)  
Teacher Developed 

9 AP Human Geography The Cultural Landscape: An introduction to Human 
Geography (Pearson, 2017) 

9-10 World History World History: Modern Times (Glencoe, 2010) 

9-10 Geography and Economics World History and Culture (McGraw-Hill/Glencoe, 2007)  
Economics: Principles and Practices  (McGraw-
Hill/Glencoe, 1998) 

10 AP World History AP World Civilizations (2015) 

10-11 US History The American Vision: Modern Times (McGraw-Hill, 
2009) 

10-12 Sociology Sociology and You (McGraw-Hill, 2000) 

11 AP US History American Pageant 14th Edition (Wadsworth/Cengage, 
2010) 

11-12 Contemporary World Affairs Teacher Developed 

11-12 Civics US Government Democracy In Action (2009)  

12 AP US Government and Politics Government in America: People, Politics, and Policy 
(2014) 

9-12 History of Sports and Leisure Teacher Curated 

Packet page 91 of 185



APPENDIX A: STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT  
SOCIAL STUDIES COURSE CURRICULUM LIST and COURSE OUTLINES (OCT 2022) 

 

Course Kindergarten 

Grade K 

Theme Geographic literacy; Economic literacy; Sociopolitical literacy; National identity; Constitutional Heritage; Civic values, 
rights, and responsibilities; Historical literacy, Ethical literacy, Cultural Literacy 

7 units / 14 named themes and 
lessons  

Places we go 
Time for work 
My USA 
Rules to go by  
Pitch in 
Good Citizens 
Protect our Earth 
Going Places 
On the move 
Make new friends 
Growing up  
Problem Solvers 
Sort it out 
Meet your neighbors 

Core Curriculum Wonders/McGraw-Hill (2018)  

Other notes Wonders (reading curriculum) has social studies themes embedded into each unit with 1-2 lessons/readings per unit 

STANDARDS LIST/SOURCE CCSS/Social Studies - Named in unit outline/Curriculum 

ASSESSMENT OF MAIN 
STANDARDS 

End of unit assessment; paper-pencil; options within units to do short answer assessments, creation of models 

 
  

Packet page 92 of 185



APPENDIX A: STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT  
SOCIAL STUDIES COURSE CURRICULUM LIST and COURSE OUTLINES (OCT 2022) 

 

Course Grade 1 

Grade 1 

Themes Geographic literacy; Economic literacy; National identity; Civic values, rights, and responsibilities; Historical literacy; 
Ethical literacy, Cultural Literacy 

6 units / 12 named themes and 
lessons 
 

Where I live 
Follow the Map 
Jobs Around Town 
Celebrate America! 
Let’s Help  
Taking Action 
Now and then 
Great Inventions 
Let’s be friends 
My Team 
Tales Over Time 
Sharing Traditions 

Core Curriculum Wonders/McGraw-Hill (2018) 

Other notes Stories Literature Anthology; Reading/Writing Workshop aligned Units  
Stories, vocabulary, activities/crafts, assessments 
Teachers have also used Teacher-developed materials curated from various sources to teach 5 Regions of the United States 
(CD): Midwest; West; Northeast; Southeast; Southwest. 

STANDARDS LIST/SOURCE CCSS/Social Studies -Named in unit outline/Curriculum 

ASSESSMENT OF MAIN 
STANDARDS 

End of unit assessment; paper-pencil; options within units to do short answer assessments, creation of models 

 
 
  

Packet page 93 of 185



APPENDIX A: STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT  
SOCIAL STUDIES COURSE CURRICULUM LIST and COURSE OUTLINES (OCT 2022) 

 
 

Course Grade 2 

Grade 2 

Theme Geographic literacy; Economic literacy; Sociopolitical literacy; Civic values, rights, and responsibilities; Historical 
literacy, Ethical literacy, Cultural Literacy 

5 units / 13 named themes and 
lessons 

Different Places 
Families Working Together 
Money Matters 
Rights and Rules 
Ways People Help 
Being a Good Citizen 
Our Heroes 
Friends help friends 
Cooperation Works! 
Families Around the World 
Animals in Stories 
Our Culture Makes Us Special 
Folktales About Nature 

Core Curriculum Wonders (McGraw-Hill, 2018) 

Other notes Stories Literature Anthology; Reading/Writing Workshop aligned Units  
Stories, vocabulary, activities/crafts, assessments 
Teachers have also used Teacher-developed materials curated from various sources to teach 5 Regions of the United 
States: Midwest; West; Northeast; Southeast; Southwest. 

STANDARDS LIST/SOURCE CCSS/Social Studies -Named in unit outline/Curriculum 

ASSESSMENT OF MAIN 
STANDARDS 

End of unit assessment; paper-pencil; options within units to do short answer assessments, creation of models 

 
 
  

Packet page 94 of 185



APPENDIX A: STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT  
SOCIAL STUDIES COURSE CURRICULUM LIST and COURSE OUTLINES (OCT 2022) 

 

Course Grade 3 

Grade 3 

Themes Economic literacy; Sociopolitical literacy; National identity; Constitutional Heritage; Civic values, rights, and 
responsibilities; Historical literacy, Ethical literacy, Cultural Literacy 

5 units / 11 named themes and 
lessons 

Let’s Trade 
Government 
Landmarks 
Teaming Up 
Good Citizens 
Leadership 
Value the Past 
Learning to Succeed 
Traditions 
Communities 
Immigration 

Core Curriculum Wonders (McGraw-Hill, 2018) 

Other notes Stories Literature Anthology; Reading/Writing Workshop aligned Units  
Stories, vocabulary, activities/crafts, assessments 
Teachers have also used Teacher-developed materials curated from various sources to teach Native American Culture 

STANDARDS LIST/SOURCE CCSS/Social Studies -Named in unit outline/Curriculum 

ASSESSMENT OF MAIN 
STANDARDS 

End of unit assessment; paper-pencil; options within units to do short answer assessments, creation of models 

 
 
  

Packet page 95 of 185



APPENDIX A: STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT  
SOCIAL STUDIES COURSE CURRICULUM LIST and COURSE OUTLINES (OCT 2022) 

 

Course Grade 4 

Grade 4 

Theme Washington State  

9 units / 8 chapters  Year-long curriculum with 2-3 lessons per chapter 

Core Curriculum Washington Adventure (2004, 2010) 

Other notes Teachers also develop their own material to supplement the aged text including sources:, Newsela, Readworks, novels, 
Picture Books 

STANDARDS LIST/SOURCE Washington State Social Studies Standards 

ASSESSMENT OF MAIN 
STANDARDS 

Text-based assessments; supplemental material tools; and teacher-developed projects and demonstrations of student 
comprehension 

 
 
 
 
 
  

Packet page 96 of 185

https://www.k12.wa.us/student-success/resources-subject-area/social-studies/social-studies-learning-standards


APPENDIX A: STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT  
SOCIAL STUDIES COURSE CURRICULUM LIST and COURSE OUTLINES (OCT 2022) 

 

Course Grade 5  

Grade 5 

Theme America 

7 units / 20 chapters  Year-long curriculum with 3-4 lessons per chapter 
US past and present 
Exploring and Settling America 
Life in the English Colonies 
Struggle for Independence 
Life in a Growing Nation 
A Nation in Conflict 
Toward the Modern Age 

Core Curriculum America Will Be (Houghton Mifflin, 1999) 

Other notes Teachers also develop their own material to supplement the aged text including sources:, Newsela, Readworks, novels, 
Picture Books 

STANDARDS LIST/SOURCE Washington State Social Studies Standards 

ASSESSMENT OF MAIN 
STANDARDS 

Text-based assessments; supplemental material tools; and teacher-developed projects and demonstrations of student 
comprehension 

 
 
  

Packet page 97 of 185

https://www.k12.wa.us/student-success/resources-subject-area/social-studies/social-studies-learning-standards


APPENDIX A: STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT  
SOCIAL STUDIES COURSE CURRICULUM LIST and COURSE OUTLINES (OCT 2022) 

 

Course 6th Grade Social Studies 

Grade 6 

Theme World History/Ancient World 

3 units / named 1 Semester Course: Ancient Greece, Ancient Rome, Ancient Egypt 

Core Curriculum World History: Journey Across Time (Glencoe/McGraw Hill, 2006) 

Other notes Teachers have used standards to develop a comprehensive curriculum using curated materials from several sources 
including: Newsela and Biography.com 

STANDARDS LIST/SOURCE 6th Grade Social Studies Priority Standards 
Washington State Social Studies Standards 

ASSESSMENT OF MAIN 
STANDARDS 

OSPI Classroom Based Assessments;  “Digging Deep” assessments 

 
  

Packet page 98 of 185

https://www.k12.wa.us/student-success/resources-subject-area/social-studies/social-studies-learning-standards


APPENDIX A: STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT  
SOCIAL STUDIES COURSE CURRICULUM LIST and COURSE OUTLINES (OCT 2022) 

 

Course Grade 7 

Grade 7 

Theme 1st Semester: World History (Medieval Times) 
2nd Semester: Washington State History (Territory to present) 

12 units / named Semester 1 
Intro to history & Geography (map skills) 
Medieval History (europe) 
Medieval History (Asia) 
Medieval History (Middle/South America) 
Medieval History (Africa) 
 
Semester 2 
Government 
Geography 
Westward Expansion & its impact on Indigenous People (1854-1889) 
Railroads, immigration, reform, labor (1889-1930) 
Turmoil and triumph (1930-1974) 
New technologies and industries in contemporary Washington (1975-present)  

Core Curriculum World History Journey Across Time by Glencoe/McGraw-Hill (2006) 
Washington in the Pacific Northwest by Gibbs Smith  (2002) 

Other notes Teachers have used standards to develop a comprehensive curriculum using curated materials from several sources 
including: iCivics Washington Government Lessons and Newsela 

STANDARDS LIST/SOURCE 7th Grade Social Studies Priority Standards 
Washington State Social Studies Standards 

ASSESSMENT OF MAIN 
STANDARDS 

OSPI Classroom Based Assessments-Causes of Conflict; A.C.E. and inquiry assessments 

 
  

Packet page 99 of 185

https://www.k12.wa.us/student-success/resources-subject-area/social-studies/social-studies-learning-standards


APPENDIX A: STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT  
SOCIAL STUDIES COURSE CURRICULUM LIST and COURSE OUTLINES (OCT 2022) 

 

Course US History 

Grade 8 

Theme Pre-European Contact to 1870 in America 

6 units / named Pre-Contact to Colonization 
Road to Revolution 
American Revolution 
Constitution 
Westward Expansion 
Civil War 

Core Curriculum The American Journey (Glencoe/McGraw-Hill, 2012) 
Teacher Developed 

Other notes iCivics US Government Lessons https://www.icivics.org/  
Newsela: https://newsela.com/ 

STANDARDS LIST/SOURCE 7th Grade Social Studies Priority Standards 
Washington State Social Studies Standards 

ASSESSMENT OF MAIN 
STANDARDS 

OSPI Classroom Based Assessment - Constitutional Issues; Inquiry-based Assessments:  

 
 
  

Packet page 100 of 185

https://www.icivics.org/
https://newsela.com/
https://www.k12.wa.us/student-success/resources-subject-area/social-studies/social-studies-learning-standards


APPENDIX A: STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT  
SOCIAL STUDIES COURSE CURRICULUM LIST and COURSE OUTLINES (OCT 2022) 

 
 

Course AP Human Geography 

Grade 9 

Theme Human Geography 

13 units / named This is Geography 
Population and Health 
Migration 
Folk and Popular Culture 
Languages 
Religions 
Ethnicities 
Political Geography 
Food and Agriculture 
Development 
Industry and Energy 
Services and Settlements 
Urban Patterns 

Core Curriculum The Cultural Landscape: An Introduction to Human Geography - 12th Edition (Pearson, 2017) 
ISBN: 0 13 427019-3 

Other notes  

STANDARDS LIST/SOURCE Washington State Social Studies Standards 

ASSESSMENT OF MAIN 
STANDARDS 

Text-based assessments; Teacher developed 

 
  

Packet page 101 of 185

https://www.k12.wa.us/student-success/resources-subject-area/social-studies/social-studies-learning-standards


APPENDIX A: STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT  
SOCIAL STUDIES COURSE CURRICULUM LIST and COURSE OUTLINES (OCT 2022) 

 
 
 
 

Course World History 

Grade 9-10 

Theme World History 

6 units / named Valley Civilizations 
Greece And Rome   
Regional Civilizations   
Middle Ages & Early American Civilizations   
Renaissance & Reformation   
European Exploration   
European Monarchies   
Enlightenment   
French Revolution   
Industrial Revolution   
Mass Society   
Imperialism   
World War I   
Between War Period   
World War II   
Communism & Cold War  
Contemporary Issues  

Core Curriculum World Civilizations: The Global Experience - 7th Edition (Pearson, 2015) 
ISBN 0 13 344770-7 

Other notes  

STANDARDS 
LIST/SOURCE 

Washington State Social Studies Standards 

ASSESSMENT OF MAIN 
STANDARDS 

Unit tests and quizzes; Teacher developed 

 

Packet page 102 of 185

https://www.k12.wa.us/student-success/resources-subject-area/social-studies/social-studies-learning-standards


APPENDIX A: STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT  
SOCIAL STUDIES COURSE CURRICULUM LIST and COURSE OUTLINES (OCT 2022) 

 

Course Geography and Economics 

Grade 9-10 

Theme Geography and Economics 

units / named  

Core Curriculum World History and Culture (McGraw-Hill/Glencoe, 2007)  
Economics: Principles and Practices  (McGraw-Hill/Glencoe, 1998) 
ISBN: 978-0-07-874529-4/978-0-07-874764-9 

Other notes  

STANDARDS 
LIST/SOURCE 

Washington State Social Studies Standards 

ASSESSMENT OF MAIN 
STANDARDS 

Unit tests and quizzes; Teacher developed 

 
  

Packet page 103 of 185

https://www.k12.wa.us/student-success/resources-subject-area/social-studies/social-studies-learning-standards


APPENDIX A: STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT  
SOCIAL STUDIES COURSE CURRICULUM LIST and COURSE OUTLINES (OCT 2022) 

 

Course AP World History 

Grade 10 

Theme World History 

6 units / named Founding the New Nation 
Building the New Nation 
Testing the New Nation 
Forging an Industrial Society 
Struggling for Justice at Home and Abroad 
Making Modern America 

Core Curriculum American Pageant - 14th Edition (Wadsworth/Cengage, 2010) 
ISBN: 0 547 16654-0 

Other notes  

STANDARDS 
LIST/SOURCE 

Washington State Social Studies Standards 

ASSESSMENT OF MAIN 
STANDARDS 

AP practice exams and DBQ assessments; Text-based assessments; Teacher developed 

  

Packet page 104 of 185

https://www.k12.wa.us/student-success/resources-subject-area/social-studies/social-studies-learning-standards


APPENDIX A: STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT  
SOCIAL STUDIES COURSE CURRICULUM LIST and COURSE OUTLINES (OCT 2022) 

 
 

Course US History 

Grade 10-11 

Theme American History 

6 units / named Colonial America 
The Young Republic 
Civil War and Reconstruction 
Settling the West 
Industrialization and Urbanization 
Becoming a World Power 
The Progressive Era 
World War I 

Core Curriculum The American Vision: Modern Times (McGraw-Hill, 2009) 
ISBN: 978-0-07-877514-7 

Other notes  

STANDARDS 
LIST/SOURCE 

Washington State Social Studies Standards 

ASSESSMENT OF MAIN 
STANDARDS 

Text-based assessments; Teacher developed 

 
  

Packet page 105 of 185

https://www.k12.wa.us/student-success/resources-subject-area/social-studies/social-studies-learning-standards


APPENDIX A: STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT  
SOCIAL STUDIES COURSE CURRICULUM LIST and COURSE OUTLINES (OCT 2022) 

 

Course Sociology 

Grade 10-11 

Theme Sociology/Social Science 

16 units / named An Invitation To Sociology  
Sociological Research Methods  
Culture Socialization  
Social Structure and Society  
Groups and Formal Organizations  
Deviance and Social Control  
Social Stratification  
Inequalities of Race and Ethnicity  
Inequalities of Gender and Age  
The Family  
Education  
Political and Economic Institutions  
Religion Chapter  
Population and Urbanization  
Social Change and Collective Behavior 

Core Curriculum Sociology and You (McGraw-Hill, 2000) 
ISBN:978-0-07-664060-7 

Other notes  

STANDARDS 
LIST/SOURCE 

Washington State Social Studies Standards 

ASSESSMENT OF MAIN 
STANDARDS 

Text-based assessments; Teacher developed 

 
  

Packet page 106 of 185

https://www.k12.wa.us/student-success/resources-subject-area/social-studies/social-studies-learning-standards


APPENDIX A: STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT  
SOCIAL STUDIES COURSE CURRICULUM LIST and COURSE OUTLINES (OCT 2022) 

 

Course AP US History 

Grade 11 

Theme American History 

6 units / named Founding the New Nation 
Building the New Nation 
Testing the New Nation 
Forging an Industrial Society 
Struggling for Justice at Home and Abroad 
Making Modern America 

Core Curriculum American Pageant - 14th Edition (Wadsworth/Cengage, 2010) 
ISBN: 0 547 16654-0 

Other notes  

STANDARDS 
LIST/SOURCE 

Washington State Social Studies Standards 

ASSESSMENT OF MAIN 
STANDARDS 

AP practice exams and DBQ assessments; Text-based assessments; Teacher Developed 

 
  

Packet page 107 of 185

https://www.k12.wa.us/student-success/resources-subject-area/social-studies/social-studies-learning-standards


APPENDIX A: STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT  
SOCIAL STUDIES COURSE CURRICULUM LIST and COURSE OUTLINES (OCT 2022) 

 

Course Contemporary World Affairs 

Grade 11-12 

Theme Modern History/Current Events 

units / named  

Core Curriculum Teacher Developed 

Other notes  

STANDARDS 
LIST/SOURCE 

Washington State Social Studies Standards 

ASSESSMENT OF MAIN 
STANDARDS 

Reading-based assessments; Teacher Developed 

 
  

Packet page 108 of 185

https://www.k12.wa.us/student-success/resources-subject-area/social-studies/social-studies-learning-standards


APPENDIX A: STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT  
SOCIAL STUDIES COURSE CURRICULUM LIST and COURSE OUTLINES (OCT 2022) 

 

Course Civics 

Grade 11-12 

Theme Modern History/Current Events 

units / named The Constitution and Federal System 
Congress 
The Executive Branch 
The Judicial Branch 
Civil Rights 
Political Parties 
Voting Rights 
State and Local Government 
Political & Economic Systems 

Core Curriculum US Government Democracy In Action 
ISBN: 978-0-07-8799-82-2 

Other notes  

STANDARDS 
LIST/SOURCE 

Washington State Social Studies Standards 

ASSESSMENT OF MAIN 
STANDARDS 

CBA; Reading-based assessments; Teacher developed 

 
  

Packet page 109 of 185

https://www.k12.wa.us/student-success/resources-subject-area/social-studies/social-studies-learning-standards


APPENDIX A: STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT  
SOCIAL STUDIES COURSE CURRICULUM LIST and COURSE OUTLINES (OCT 2022) 

 

Course AP US Government and Politics 

Grade 12 

Theme US Government and Politics 

6 units / named  

Core Curriculum Government in America: People, Politics, and Policy (2014) 
ISBN: 978-0-205-86561-1  

Other notes  

STANDARDS 
LIST/SOURCE 

Washington State Social Studies Standards 

ASSESSMENT OF MAIN 
STANDARDS 

AP practice exams and DBQ assessments; Text-based assessments; Teacher Developed 

 
  

Packet page 110 of 185

https://www.k12.wa.us/student-success/resources-subject-area/social-studies/social-studies-learning-standards


APPENDIX A: STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT  
SOCIAL STUDIES COURSE CURRICULUM LIST and COURSE OUTLINES (OCT 2022) 

 
 

Course History of Sports and Leisure 

Grade 9-12 

Theme Sports and Leisure  

units / named Teacher Developed 

Core Curriculum Teacher Developed 

Other notes  

STANDARDS 
LIST/SOURCE 

Washington State Social Studies Standards 

ASSESSMENT OF MAIN 
STANDARDS 

Reading-based assessments; Teacher Developed 

 
 

Packet page 111 of 185

https://www.k12.wa.us/student-success/resources-subject-area/social-studies/social-studies-learning-standards


 OF DIRECTORS 

STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Board Meeting Date:  10/19/22  

Strategic Focus Area 
☐ Achieve

☐ Support

☐ Connect

☒ Plan

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

POLICY 6700 Nutrition, Health, and Physical Education 

The policy addresses our wellness plan and promotes best practices for healthy schools. 
Updates applied from the revised WSSDA policy: 

• Inserts language regarding support for best practice of seated meal time and recess
before lunch and addressing barriers

• Adds affirmation of meal prices being sent to board for approval (current practice)
• Adds language to clarify meal charge policy
• Adds requirement that excused (waiver) student from PE – must demonstrate

competency in the knowledge portion of the fitness requirement (current practice)
• Changes language from ‘have access to’ to ‘participate’ regarding requirement for

classroom-based assessments (current practice)
• Adds detail to definition on PE waivers
• Adds two components to the list of the multi-component approach for physical

activity: active transportation and school district facilities

RECOMMENDED ACTION: 

It is recommended that the board approve the policy as revised. 

Report prepared by: Paul Harvey, Executive Director for Teaching and Learning 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 

Packet page 112 of 185



Policy No. 6700 
Management Support 

Page 1 of 5 
 

 
 

NUTRITION, HEALTH, AND PHYSICAL FITNESS 
 
The board recognizes that a healthy school environment prepares students for college, careers, 
and successful futures. Students who eat well-balanced meals and engage in regular exercise are 
more likely to learn in the classroom. The board supports the district’s increased emphasis on 
nutrition, health, physical education, and physical activity at all grade levels to enhance the well-
being of the district’s students. Therefore, it is the policy of the Board of Directors to provide 
students with access to nutritious food; emphasize health education and physical education; and 
provide students with opportunities for physical activity.  
 
The board recognizes the benefits of scheduling at least 20 minutes of seat time for lunch for 
every student and scheduling recess before lunch for elementary students. Therefore, to the 
extent appropriate and feasible, the Superintendent will strive to identify and remove barriers to 
these practices and periodically report back to the board. 
 
Wellness Policy 
The district, through a wellness committee, will develop and implement a comprehensive 
wellness policy in compliance with state and federal requirements for districts participating in 
the National School Lunch Program, the School Breakfast Program and the United States 
Department of Agriculture (USDA) Smart Snacks in School nutrition standards.  
  
Nutrition and Food Services Program 
The Board of Directors supports the philosophy of the National School Lunch and School 
Breakfast Program and will provide wholesome and nutritious meals for children in the District’s 
schools. The Board authorizes the Superintendent to administer the food services program, 
provided that any decision to enter into a contract with a food service management company will 
require the approval of the Board. Expenditures for food supplies shall not exceed the estimated 
revenues. 
  
The Superintendent or designee is responsible for: 
 

• Annually, distributing meal applications and determining eligibility for school meals;  
• Protecting the identity of students eligible for free and reduced-price meals;  
• Ensuring meals meet USDA meal pattern requirements;  
• Ensuring meal periods are in compliance with USDA regulations; 
• Establishing a Food Safety Plan; 
• Determining meal prices and submitting them to the board for approval annually; 
• Using the full entitlement of USDA Foods; 
• Maintaining a nonprofit school food service account;  
• Ensuring all revenues are used solely for the school meal program;  
• Establishing a meal charge policy if not serving meals at no cost to students;  
• Accommodating children with special dietary needs;  
• Ensuring compliance with USDA nondiscrimination policies;  

Packet page 113 of 185



Policy No. 6700 
Management Support 

Page 2 of 5 
 

• Following proper procurement procedures; and 
• Ensuring compliance with the Smart Snacks in School standards. 

 
 
Health and Physical Education Program 
The district’s K-12 health and physical education programs will be aligned with the Washington 
State Health and Physical Education K-12 Learning Standards and will include, but not be 
limited to, the development of knowledge and skills to be physically active, eat nutritiously, 
access reliable health information and services, communicate effectively, and set health-
enhancing goals. 
  
The district will ensure that the following requirements are met: 
 

• All students in grades one through eight receive an average of one hundred instructional 
minutes per week of physical education per year.  

• All high school students are required to complete a minimum of three semesters (1.5 
credits) of physical education and one semester (.5 credit) of health education.  

• Any student who is excused from participation on account of physical disability, 
employment, religious belief, participation in directed athletics or military science and 
tactics, or for other good cause will be required to demonstrate proficiency/competency 
in the knowledge portion of the fitness requirement, in accordance with District policy. 

• The district will offer a one-credit course or its equivalent in physical education for each 
grade in the high school program (grades 9-12). 

• All students have equal and equitable opportunities for health and physical education.  
• All students, from kindergarten through grade 12, will have access toparticipate in a 

quality, standards-based health and physical education program. 
• OSPI- developed assessments or other strategies will be used in health and physical 

education, formerly known as classroom-based assessments (CBAs). 
 

Additionally, school districts must conduct an annual review of their PE programs. The review 
must consist of numerous provisions, including:  

• The number of individual students completing a PE class during the school year;  
• The average number of minutes per week of PE received by students in grades 1 through 

8, expressed in appropriate reporting ranges;  
• The number of students granted waivers (excused from participation) from PE 

requirements;  
• An indication of whether all PE classes are taught by instructors who possess a valid 

health and fitness endorsement;  
• The PE class sizes, expressed in appropriate reporting ranges;  
• An indication of whether, as a matter of policy or procedure, the district routinely 

modifies and adapts its PE curriculum for students with disabilities; and  
• An indication of whether the district routinely excludes students from PE classes for 

disciplinary reasons. 
 
 
 

Packet page 114 of 185



Policy No. 6700 
Management Support 

Page 3 of 5 
 

As a best practice and subject to available funding, the district will strive to ensure: 
 

• Students will be moderately to vigorously active for at least 50% of class time during 
most or all physical education class sessions. 

• All schools will have certificated physical education teachers providing instruction. 
• All schools will have appropriate class sizes, facilities, equipment, and supplies needed to 

deliver quality health and physical education consistent with state standards. 
• All physical education teachers will be encouraged to participate in professional 

development in physical education at least once a year.  
 
 
 
Physical Activity 
Physical education class is not to be used or withheld as punishment for any reason. All schools, 
as a best practice and subject to available funding, will participate in a multi-component 
approach by which schools use all opportunities for students to bybe physically active, such as 
the Comprehensive School Physical Activity Program (CSPAP) recommended by the Centers for 
Disease Control and Prevention, and will provide the following: 
 

• Quality physical education;  
• Physical activity during the school day (brain boosters/energizers);  
• Physical activity before and after school; 
• Recess (which will not be used or withheld as punishment for any reason);  
• Family and community engagement; and 
• Staff wellness and health promotion;  
• Active transportation; and  
• School district facilities. 

 
 
 
 
Cross References: 2150 - Co-Curricular Program 
 2151 - Interscholastic Activities 

 2161 - Special Education and Related Services for Eligible 
Students 

 2162 - Education of Students with Disabilities Under Section 
504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 

 2410 - High School Graduation Requirements 
 3210 - Nondiscrimination 

 3422 - Student Sports – Concussion, Head Injury and Sudden 
Cardiac Arrest 

 4260 - Use of School Facilities  
 

Packet page 115 of 185

https://app.eduportal.com/share/a177732e42a29ac1
https://app.eduportal.com/share/aa939e8e-75dc-11e6-bd8b-00155d645900
https://app.eduportal.com/share/cc93abbe67150732
https://app.eduportal.com/share/f50fdb1032a78d5d
https://app.eduportal.com/share/503424dd37e206a0
https://app.eduportal.com/share/29ac090ca5ca6a31
https://app.eduportal.com/share/c3b73cb44d603003
https://app.eduportal.com/share/49a0327218e25fcf


Policy No. 6700 
Management Support 

Page 4 of 5 
 

Legal References:  RCW 28A.210.365 Food choice, physical activity, childhood 
fitness — Minimum standards — District waiver or exemption 
policy.  

 RCW 28A.230.040 Physical Education – Grades 1-8  
 RCW 28A.230.050 Physical Education in High Schools  
 RCW 28A.230.095 Essential academic learning requirements 

and assessments — Verification reports.  
 RCW 28A.235.120 Meal Programs — Establishment and 

Operation — Personnel — Agreements  
 RCW 28A.235.130 Milk for children at school expense  
 RCW 28A.235.140 School breakfast programs 

 RCW 28A. 235.145 School breakfast and lunch programs –Use 
of state funds 

 RCW 28A. 235.150 School breakfast and lunch programs – 
Grants to increase participation – Increased state support 

 
RCW 28A.235.160 Requirements to implement school 
breakfast, lunch and summer food service programs – 
Exemptions 

 RCW 28A.235.170 Washington grown fresh fruit and vegetable 
grant program 

 RCW 28A.623.020 Nonprofit program for elderly — 
Authorized — Restrictions  

 RCW 69.04 Intrastate Commerce in Food, Drugs and Cosmetics  
 RCW 69.06.010 Food and beverage service worker’s permit — 

Filing, duration — Minimum training requirements  
 RCW 69.06.020 Permit exclusive and valid throughout state — 

Fee  
 RCW 69.06.030 Diseased persons — May not work — 

Employer may not hire  
 RCW 69.06.050 Permit to be secured within fourteen days from 

time of employment  
 RCW 69.06.070 Limited duty permit  

 
WAC 180-51-068 State subject and credit requirements for high 
school graduation—Students entering the ninth grade on or after 
July 1, 2015  

 WAC 392-157-125 Time for meals 
 WAC 392-410-135 Physical Education – Grade school and high 

school requirement  
 WAC 392-410-136 Physical Education Requirement-Excuse  
 2 CFR Part 200 - Procurement 
 7 CFR, Parts 210 and 220  

Packet page 116 of 185

http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=28A.210.365
https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=28A.230.040
https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=28A.230.050
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=28A.230.095
http://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=28A.235.120
https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=28A.235.130
https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=28A.235.140
https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=28A.235.145
https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=28A.235.150
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=28A.235.160
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/RCW/default.aspx?cite=28A.235.170
https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=28A.623.020
http://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=69.04
https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=69.06.010
https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=69.06.020
https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=69.06.030
https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=69.06.050
https://app.leg.wa.gov/rcw/default.aspx?cite=69.06.070
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/wac/default.aspx?cite=180-51
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/WAC/default.aspx?cite=392-157-125
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/WAC/default.aspx?cite=392-410
http://apps.leg.wa.gov/WAC/default.aspx?cite=392-410
https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/granule/CFR-2014-title2-vol1/CFR-2014-title2-vol1-sec200-320
https://www.fns.usda.gov/part-210%E2%80%94national-school-lunch-program


Policy No. 6700 
Management Support 

Page 5 of 5 
 

 7 CFR, Part 245.5  
 

Management Resources:  
2022 - June 
2018 – May Issue 
2017 – April Policy Issue 

 Comprehensive School Physical Activity Program 
 2015 - June Policy Issue  
 Recommendations for Waivers in High School Physical 

Education/Fitness Education, OSPI (September 2013)  
 2014 - February Issue  
 Wellness Policy Best Practices, OSPI (January 2013)  
 Policy News, February 2005 Nutrition and Physical Fitness 

Policy  
 Policy News, December 2004 Nutrition and Physical Fitness 

Update  
 Alliance for a Healthier Generation Wellness Policies 

 OSPI Child Nutrition School Wellness Policy Best Practices for 
Policy Development, Implementation and Evaluation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Adoption Date: 2.27.08 
Steilacoom School District No. 1 
Revised Dates: 2.23.11; 2.25.15; 11.8.17; 7.25.18; XX.XX.XX 

Packet page 117 of 185

https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/granule/CFR-2013-title7-vol4/CFR-2013-title7-vol4-sec245-5
http://www.cdc.gov/healthyyouth/physicalactivity/cspap.htm


Student Advisory
Pioneer Middle School

Packet page 118 of 185



The ‘Why’

● SIP Aligned - “Increase student 
response to the Supportive 
Adult Relationship metric in the 
Panorama survey.”

● Staff Requested - Coherent, 
Structured Resources

● Secondary Alignment - HS 
Advisory in Place

● College and Career Focus -
21st Century Skills

Motivating factors for increasing 
student support

Packet page 119 of 185



The Structure
Schedule

Assignment

● Wednesdays for 25 minutes at 
the start of the day

● Intensive, Daily Advisory in 
September for three weeks

● Use of School-Connect, 
ExSELent Teaching book, 
CASEL Framework

● First Semester Focus is 
Foundations; Second Semester 
is Communication

Packet page 120 of 185



The Content
Two resources being used this 

year

Packet page 121 of 185



The Intended 
Outcomes

Objectives and Measures
Connection to our SIP plan

● We will continue to meet to 
discuss the resources to find out 
what’s working well and what 
needs refinement.

● We will continue to ask for 
student feedback.

● Principal and Teacher 
Leadership Team will guide plans 
for next year.

● Principal Evaluation is 
connected, by choice. 

● Panorama and Academic 
Feedback.

Packet page 122 of 185



Early Reports
September Experience

Next Steps
Student Led Conferences

● T - “Great time to connect and 
listen!”

● “S - Learning about the brain 
more and how to be calm. Not 
just one more period; it’s not 
stressing me out.”

● T - “I"’m learning strategies to 
help myself, not just the 
students.”

● S - “September seemed like a lot 
of time; I like it just once a week 
now.”

● T - “This will be a great place for 
hosting Conferences.”

● S - “When can we talk about 
[school-wide] problems?”

Packet page 123 of 185



Questions
From the Board of Directors

Packet page 124 of 185



2021-2022 District and 
School Improvement Plan 
Highlights and 
2022-2023 School Year Plans

Packet page 125 of 185



District 
Improvement Plan

Packet page 126 of 185



Panorama Results Highlights: SEL

Lower frequency of challenging 
emotions - Elementary and 
Secondary 

Packet page 127 of 185



Neural Education 
Certification

Highlights: Staff Certification

Packet page 128 of 185



Grade Level Proficiency Highlights: Academic Rigor

Packet page 129 of 185



Reducing learning gaps -
Math

Highlights: Academic Rigor; Equity

Packet page 130 of 185



Reducing learning gaps -
ELA

Highlights: Academic Rigor; Equity

Packet page 131 of 185



Elementary Schools

Packet page 132 of 185



Anderson Island Elementary Highlights: Academic 
Rigor - Reading

FALL

SPRING

Overall Student Placement Fall

Packet page 133 of 185



Anderson Island Elementary

Highlights: Academic Rigor - Math

SPRING

FALL

Overall Student Placement Fall

Overall Student Placement Spring

Packet page 134 of 185



Chloe Clark Elementary

SPRING

FALL

Overall Student Placement Fall

Overall Student Placement Spring

Highlights: Academic 
Rigor - Reading

Packet page 135 of 185



Chloe Clark Elementary

SPRING

FALL

Overall Student Placement Fall

Overall Student Placement Spring

Highlights: Academic Rigor - Math

Packet page 136 of 185



Cherrydale Primary

SPRING

FALL

Overall Student Placement Fall

Overall Student Placement Spring

Highlights: Academic 
Rigor - Reading

Packet page 137 of 185



Cherrydale Primary

SPRING

FALL

Overall Student Placement Fall

Overall Student Placement Spring

Highlights: Academic Rigor - Math

Packet page 138 of 185



Saltar’s Point

SPRING

FALL

Overall Student Placement Fall

Overall Student Placement Spring

Highlights: Academic 
Rigor - Reading

Packet page 139 of 185



Saltar’s Point Elementary

SPRING

FALL

Overall Student Placement Fall

Overall Student Placement Spring

Highlights: Academic Rigor - Math

Packet page 140 of 185



2022-2023 Plans
● All elementary schools are revising current SIP goals with 

staff during the month of October
○ Research indicates that including staff in the creation 

of School Improvement Plan goals positively impacts 
student outcomes on the goals.

○ Principals are focusing on “small wins” with staff and 
an understanding of what types of data can measure 
specific goals - both long term and short term goals.  

○ Principals have rebooted the Professional Learning 
Communities using the TACA model with a heavy 
focus on data and student learning outcomes 
connected to new SIP goals.  

Packet page 141 of 185



Secondary Schools 

Packet page 142 of 185



2022-2023 Pioneer MS SIP Goal
● Pioneer’s Math goal in 21-22 was to decrease the 

proficiency gap between students with disabilities and 
students without disabilities to 50% (en route to 25%). 
○ Their actual goal for 21-22 was 28%!

● The ELA goal of the same nature was 35% (en route to 
15%) and they were very close, finishing with a gap of 38%. 

● Plans to improve in 22-23 include actions steps like 
introducing the TACA model in PLC to dial into delivery and 
achievement on 6-8 essential standards. 

● Using SBA performance data to isolate priority standards 
(within the essential standards) wherein the biggest 
opportunities for improvement lie. 

On the iReady 
Spring 
Diagnostic

Packet page 143 of 185

https://docs.google.com/document/d/1wx3Lm86zal4t6WyWaFVEFUTwYaMQo3bwZr7bleMI7SY/edit?usp=sharing


Pioneer Middle School Highlights: Academic 
Rigor - Math

This is an example of 
how we can use our 
21-22 SBA data to 

inform our instruction.

Packet page 144 of 185



● Pioneer sought to increase favorable student responses on the 
“Supportive Adult Relationships” metrics to 85% (en route to 
95%). 

● They started the year at 73% on this data point and finished the 
year at 80%.
○ In each quarter this metric trended up.

● PIO has started a weekly advisory program this year to provide 
intentional SEL support for all students. 

● They are also blending their work in Neural Education with 
advisory and classroom instruction to incorporate these skills 
year-round.

● PIO was also awarded a grant which provides a teacher-leaders 
with an opportunity to work with the author of Culturally 
Responsive Education in the Classroom, Dr. Yemi Stembridge.

On the Spring 
Panorama 
survey

2022-2023 Pioneer MS & DIP Goal

Packet page 145 of 185

https://www.dryemis.com/
https://www.dryemis.com/
https://www.dryemis.com/


2022-2023 Steilacoom HS SIP Goal
● Steilacoom’s ELA goal in 21-22 was to decrease the proficiency 

gap between students with disabilities and students without 
disabilities to 40% (en route to 25%). 
○ Their actual goal for 21-22 was 34%!

● The Math goal of the same nature was 30% (en route to 25%) 
and they were not close, finishing with a gap of 49%. 

● Plans to improve in 22-23 include actions steps like introducing 
the TACA model in PLC to dial into their delivery and 
achievement metrics.

● The administrators are working with the Math department to 
review its essential standards to ensure there are no gaps. 

● We also know that Cedarcrest HS in the Riverview School 
District (Duvall) has similar statistics to SHS and experienced 
very high math growth, so we will make contact with them. 

On the SBA

Packet page 146 of 185

https://docs.google.com/document/d/1wx3Lm86zal4t6WyWaFVEFUTwYaMQo3bwZr7bleMI7SY/edit?usp=sharing


Steilacoom High School Highlights: Academic Rigor - ELA

Packet page 147 of 185



Steilacoom High School Highlights: Academic Rigor - ELA

Packet page 148 of 185



● Steilacoom’s graduation goal in 21-22 was to ensure that 92% 
of all 10th grade students classified as “academically on-track” 
meaning they have earned 18 credits through three semesters.
○ Their actual performance in 21-22 was 89%.

● SHS incorporated more independent study into their schedule 
to provide time for students to connect with their advisor, their 
counselor, and/or get assistance from teachers during the 
school day. 

● They are creating a Care Team to create support plans for 
students like the 11% of sophomores off track. 

● Switching to grade-level counselors for 22-23 created the ability 
for counselors to individually meet with all of their students 
within the first two months of the school year to engage in 
conversations about their academic status.

2022-2023 Steilacoom HS SIP Goal

Packet page 149 of 185



 OF DIRECTORS 
 

STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Board Meeting Date: October 19, 2022 

Strategic Focus Area 

☐  Achieve       

☒   Support  

☒  Connect 

☒  Plan 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
The Growth Management Act identifies schools as a part of the public infrastructure 
needed to serve growth. One of the primary uses of the Capital Facilities Plan is to 
establish a basis for school impact fee eligibility.   
 
District staff has prepared a draft of the 2022 Capital Facilities Plan for community review 
following the October 19, 2022 board meeting.  The Capital Facilities Plan requires a 14-
day SEPA notice requirement, starting on or about October 24 and ending on November 7.  
This will allow the board to consider comments received at the board meeting on November 
16. 
 
The draft and final Capital Facilities Plan is shared with the Town of Steilacoom, the City of 
DuPont, Pierce County and the greater SHSD community.  Once adopted by the school 
board, this plan is adopted by reference as a part of each local jurisdiction’s 
Comprehensive Plan for purposes of identifying whether school facilities are adequate to 
serve existing and proposed new development.  
 
As part of the presentation, staff will: 

• Update the board regarding significant changes of the six-year plan, which reflects 
the projects identified in the bond proposal also being considered by the school 
board on October 19. 

• Discuss other possible projects and funding sources 
• Provide an overview of the impact fee calculation in the capital facilities plan based 

on current data.   
 
   
RECOMMENDED ACTION: 
 
This is an information only item – no action is recommended. 
 
 
Report prepared by: 
Shawn Lewis, Director of Community Relations and Planning 
_______________________________________________________________________________ 
  

Packet page 150 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 1 of 35 
2023-2028 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CAPITAL FACILITIES PLAN 
 

2023 - 2028 
 
 

 
October 2022 

Packet page 151 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 2 of 35 
2023-2028 

Steilacoom Historical School  
District No. 1 

511 Chambers Street 
Steilacoom, WA  98388 

(253) 983-2200 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Board of Directors 

 
Victor Hogan 

Jennifer McDonald 
Loujanna Rohrer  

Samuel Scott 
Melanie Tinsley 

 
 

 
 

Dr. Kathi Weight, Superintendent 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared by the 
Steilacoom Historical School District No. 1 

Packet page 152 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 3 of 35 
2023-2028 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
            TAB 
 
Introduction              1 
 Introduction 
  
 District Statements and Core Values 

District Strategic Plan and Goals 
 District Map 
 
School District Description            2 
 Location and Description of School Facilities 
 History of Facilities 
 Parcel Summary by Location 
 
Student Enrollment             3 
 School Capacities 
 Student Enrollment Trends 
 OSPI – Cohort Survival Enrollment Projections 
 SHSD 2019-2025 Projected Enrollment 
  
Level of Service             4 
 
Construction Plans             5 
 
Finance Plan              6 
 
Impact Fee Calculations       Enclosures 1 & 2 
 

Packet page 153 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 4 of 35 
2023-2028 

STEILACOOM HISTORICAL SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1 
BUILDING SITES 

ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICE 
511 CHAMBERS STREET 

STEILACOOM, WA  98388 
WEBSITE:  www.steilacoom.k12.wa.us  

 
Office/Building Address Phone Number Points of Contact  
DISTRICT OFFICE  
511 Chambers Street 
Steilacoom, WA  98388 
 

(253) 983-2200 
(253) 584-7198 (fax) 

Kathi Weight – Superintendent 
Gwen Miller – Executive Asst. to Superintendent 
 
 

CHERRYDALE PRIMARY SCHOOL  
1201 Galloway 
Steilacoom, WA  98388 
 

 
(253) 983-2500 
(253) 583-8478 (fax) 

 
Ryan Douglas - Principal 
Laura Johnson - Office Coordinator 
 

CHLOE CLARK ELEMENTARY SCHOOL 
1700 Palisades Blvd 
DuPont, WA  98327 

(253) 583-7100 
(253) 964-0935 (fax) 

Loretta Duncan - Principal 
DeAnn Thysens- Office Coordinator 
 
 

SALTAR’S POINT ELEMENTARY SCHOOL 
908 Third Street 
Steilacoom, WA 98388 
 

(253) 983-2600 
(253) 581-9083 (fax) 

Alex Clauson - Principal 
Barbara Giannetti– Office Coordinator 
 

ANDERSON ISLAND ELEMENTARY SCHOOL 
13005 Camus Road 
Anderson Island, WA  98303 
 

(253) 884-4901 
(253) 884-7835 (fax) 

Susan Greer - Principal 
Dana Ballou - Secretary 
 

PIONEER MIDDLE SCHOOL  
1750 Bob’s Hollow Lane 
DuPont, WA  98327 
 
 

(253) 583-7200 
(253) 583-7292 (fax) 

JoAnne Fernandes- Principal  
Claudia Duenas - Office Coordinator 
 

STEILACOOM HIGH SCHOOL  
54 Sentinel Drive 
Steilacoom, WA 98388 
 
 
Maintenance Center 
1117 Diggs Street 
Steilacoom, WA 98388 

(253) 983-2300 
(253) 983-2393 (fax) 
 
 
 
(253 )584-7241 
(253)582-5826 (fax) 
 

Michael Miller - Principal 
Sharon Larson - Office Coordinator 
 
 
 
Shae Emery, Maintenance and Facilities Manager 
Sheila Murphy, Department Specialist 
 

   

 

Packet page 154 of 185

http://www.steilacoom.k12.wa.us/


 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 5 of 35 
2023-2028 

TAB 1 INTRODUCTION 
 
The Steilacoom Historical School District No. 1 (SHSD) has prepared this Capital Facilities Plan 
(CFP) to assess the facilities needed to accommodate projected student enrollment at 
acceptable levels of service, as well as a more detailed schedule and financing program for 
capital improvements, over the next six years (2023-2028).  The CFP is intended to be shared 
with the Town of Steilacoom, the City of DuPont, Pierce County and the greater SHSD 
community.  This report assesses the following: 

• The anticipated growth within the District’s boundaries; 
• The anticipated school enrollment growth through the 2023-2028 planning period; 
• The new school facilities required to meet the needs of this expanding student 

enrollment; and 
• As applicable, the school impact fee calculations based on the capacity projects 

necessary to address growth needs. 
 

Residential development has historically preceded any school construction and has never 
progressed in an orderly and coordinated manner.  Selection of school sites and the 
construction of schools have generally followed the construction of new homes.  This historic 
process of school construction following residential growth has left a gap between available 
space and the student population.  As a result, schools have commonly become overcrowded. 
Compounding the situation is the state’s historic and consistent underfunding of the State 
Construction Assistance Program by using construction cost allocations and eligible area 
estimates that are far below normal and reasonable levels.  In addition, the required time to 
acquire property, design facilities, acquire all necessary permits, and to construct facilities also 
contributes to overcrowded schools. 
 
Relief for overcrowded schools has primarily come from local residents who have supported tax 
levies and bond issues.  Voter approval of school levies and bond issues is becoming more 
difficult as other interests vie for property tax dollars.  In addition, many existing residents are 
questioning the equity of having to pay the full costs of the educational facilities needed to 
serve new residents.  In an effort to overcome the perceived inequity of property tax supported 
levies and bond issues, school districts have sought conditions upon development activity to 
provide a share of the local financial support needed for the construction of school facilities. 
 
This Capital Facilities Plan is designed to support the use of school impact fees as provided for 
under the 1990 Growth Management Act.  Therefore, this Plan consists of: 
 

• An inventory of the existing schools, support facilities and properties owned by  
Steilacoom Historical School District No.1; 

• An enrollment history and projection for the 2023-2028 time frame; 
• An identification of the District’s current “level of service” with respect to capital 

facilities; 
• A forecast of the District’s need for new construction, modernization, and new 

construction-in-lieu-of modernization; and 

Packet page 155 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 6 of 35 
2023-2028 

• A plan that will finance the proposed construction projects within projected funding 
capacities and clearly identify sources of public money for such purposes.  The CFP is 
designed to support school impact fees authorized by Pierce County, as implemented by 
Steilacoom Historical School District No. 1 and other municipalities that may collect 
school impact fees on behalf of the District. 

 
In addition, the CFP will also provide a basis for mitigation under the State Environmental 
Protection Act (SEPA) or the State Subdivision Act. 
  

Packet page 156 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 7 of 35 
2023-2028 

TAB 1 DISTRICT STATEMENTS AND CORE VALUES 
 
 
DISTRICT VISION STATEMENT 
 
“The best education for every student.” 
 
 
DISTRICT MISSION STATEMENT 
 
The mission statement for the Steilacoom Historical School District No.1, in partnership with 
our communities, is to educate and prepare responsible citizens who can contribute and adapt 
in a changing world. 
 
DISTRICT CORE VALUES 
 
 Academics  
 We commit to engage all students by using effective instructional practices, challenging 

students to reach their fullest potential. 
 
 Collaboration 
 We practice purposeful, professional, student-centered collaboration. 
 
 Climate 
 We ensure a positive, respectful and safe learning climate, responsive to students’ 

individual needs. 
 
 Integrity 
 We commit to act with honesty and integrity, respecting all diversities. 
 
 Community 
 We welcome and encourage family and community involvement, where each member 

of the school community is a valued partner. 
 
 Accountability 
 We, the SHSD learning community, share in the responsibility for attaining academic 

and fiscal goals by providing educators with the necessary tools and resources for 
success. 

 
 
  

Packet page 157 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 8 of 35 
2023-2028 

TAB 1 DISTRICT MAP

  

Packet page 158 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 9 of 35 
2023-2028 

TAB II LOCATION AND DESCRIPTION OF SCHOOL FACILITIES  
 
The chart below lists and describes each school facility site within the District.  This represents 
the most accurate inventory of square footage (SF) for the individual facilities within the District 
as reviewed by District staff and included on the most recent OSPI ICOS Inventory.  The 
numbers below do not include SF areas for portable buildings but do include covered outdoor 
play areas.  
 

2022 Steilacoom Historical School District Facility Inventory  

School Location Grades 
Square 

Footage 

Anderson Island ES Anderson Island K-3 and pre-K 

 

5,144 

Cherrydale Primary Steilacoom K-3 and pre-K 42,083 

Saltar’s Point ES Steilacoom 4-5 (all district) 55,235 

Chloe Clark ES  DuPont K-3 and pre-K 59,333 

Pioneer Middle School  DuPont 6-8 (all district) 103,128 

Steilacoom High 
School  Steilacoom 9-12 (all district) 10133,374 

Total Sites  - 6  Total Square Footage 398,297 

    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Packet page 159 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 10 of 35 
2023-2028 

TAB II HISTORY OF FACILITIES 
 
 

1. School District Building Data 
 
Date  Building   Cost   Location 
 
1851  Log Building   Unknown  Main & Commercial 
1858  First Public School  $450   Starling & Frederick 
      Contributions/Partial Payment 
1892  Second Public School  $10,000.00  Chambers & Sequalish 
1916-17 Third Public School  $15,000.00  Chambers & Sequalish 
1952  All Purpose School  $133,953.00  Chambers & Nisqually 
1962  Cherrydale School  $183,597.00  Galloway and C 
1966  Cherrydale Addition  $175,646.00  Galloway and C 
1968  Pioneer Addition  $405,422.00  Chambers & Nisqually 
1972  Saltar’s Point School  $605,860.00  Third & Beech 

Consolidation with Anderson Island and DuPont School Districts 
1979 Acquisition of Laughbon Jr./Sr. High School; Anderson Island and Harriet Taylor 

schools 
1981  Steilacoom High School $12 million  Sentinel Drive 
1986  District Office   $100,000  Steilacoom, WA 
2000  Chloe Clark Elementary $1.7 million  Palisade Boulevard 
2006  Chloe Clark Elementary $6.0 million  DuPont, WA   
  School Addition/Modernization 
2007  Anderson Island Elementary $951,460  Anderson Island, WA 
  New Multipurpose Room 
2008  New Pioneer Middle School  $34.0 million   DuPont, WA  
2008-2009 Steilacoom HS Addition $27.0 million   Steilacoom, WA  
  /Modernization    
2012  Saltar’s Point Modular  $724,000  Steilacoom, WA 

Classrooms 
2015  Remodel of SHS Classrooms  $710,972  Steilacoom, WA 
2021  Maintenance Site Acquisition $700,000  Steilacoom, WA 
2022  Maintenance Center Addition $2.2 million  Steilacoom, WA 
2022  Elementary #5 Site Acquisition $4.8 million  DuPont, WA 

 
2. Land/Parcel Holdings and Disposition 

 
Until 2012, the District owned a 30 acre parcel located in the City of DuPont at the intersection 
of Center Drive and International Place. The District sold this property and used a portion of the 
sale proceeds to acquire a 14.71 acre site located on Manchester Place within the City of 
DuPont and a 5.3 acre site located on International Place within the City of DuPont.  
 
The Board surplused and sold the 5.3 acre site in 2020. 
 

Packet page 160 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 11 of 35 
2023-2028 

The remaining 14.71 acre site in DuPont was intended to serve as the location for a planned 
new school.  The Board declared this property surplus and entered into a purchase and sale 
agreement to sell this property contingent on acquisition of a suitable elementary school site in 
DuPont.   The District purchased a suitable elementary school site in DuPont as described 
below.  
 
In its long range planning, the District’s Board of Directors regularly analyzes smaller parcels 
owned by the District that cannot support the size of facilities at any grade level and considers 
the sale of those parcels to fund the District’s long range capital facility or future land 
acquisition funding strategies.     
 
In 2010, the District purchased tax parcel identification No. 761500022 located immediately 
directly north of Steilacoom High School - a 13.5 acre parcel. In November 2013, the board 
passed Resolution 810-11-13-13 to approve the surplus of 3.77 acre portion of that site, and it 
remains for sale.  It is the intent of the District to utilize a portion of this site for additional 
parking and athletic fields.  The timing of this expansion is subject to the successful passage of a 
bond proposition.  The board intends to place a proposition before voters in February 2023. 
 
In 2014, the Board surplused 2.76 acres of property located on Chambers Street, in Steilacoom, 
commonly known as “Chambers Field” (Tax Parcel Identification No. 66555200311).  Chambers 
Field is located directly behind the District’s existing bus garage at Sequalish Street.  In October 
2021, the Board surplused 0.7 acres on Sequalish Street, where the District’s bus garage and 
parking lot is located.  The District sold both properties in October 2022. 
 
In July 2022, the Board approved the purchase of a 10 acre elementary school site in the City of 
DuPont located on McNeil Street adjacent to Marshall Circle.  The District intends to construct 
the next elementary school on this site. 
 
 
 
3. History of Capital Facility Planning and Construction  
 
To meet increasing population and provide a sturdier building, the Town of Steilacoom 
approved in 1913 the construction of a new brick structure at the cost of $15,000.  
 
During the early part of the 1990’s, about a dozen portable classrooms were placed to 
accommodate the growing enrollment at Cherrydale Primary School, Saltar’s Point Elementary, 
and Pioneer Middle School.  After the Town of Steilacoom placed a moratorium on the number 
of portables that could be sited, the District held public information meetings designed to 
inform residents about the critical situation.  When the bond election was held in 1996 to 
approve general obligation bonds of $38,000,000, voters rejected it.  A second election, held in 
the following year was approved. 
 
In 1997, voters approved by over 60%, a proposition for construction and improvements to the 
District’s elementary schools and high school but rejected a second proposition to build a new 
middle school.  

Packet page 161 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 12 of 35 
2023-2028 

 
Instead, the old Steilacoom School serving as Pioneer Middle School underwent an extensive 
retro-fit to make the building earthquake safe.  In addition, the cafeteria was remodeled and 
enlarged and the gymnasium floor was replaced.  The results of that retro-fit were 
demonstrated during the February 28, 2001 earthquake.  A portion of Proposition #1, or 
$2,003,000, was designated for technology—computers, software and related equipment.  
 
Following approval of the 1997 Capital Facilities Bond, plans were started for work on 
Cherrydale Primary School, Saltar’s Point Elementary School, and Anderson Island Elementary 
School.  To accommodate school-age students in the DuPont community, ground was broken in 
fall 2000 for a new elementary school.  Chloe Clark Elementary School was dedicated in August 
2001 and 180 students were enrolled for the following school year. 
 
On May 17, 2005, District voters approved Steilacoom Historical School District No. 1 to issue 
$55.9 million dollars in general obligation bonds to finance a 6-year construction program.    
The District received approximately $17. 1 million dollars in state match dollars to assist in 
funding. 
 
The 2005 bond projects included: 
 

• Completing Phase II of Chloe Clark Elementary School  
• Building a new middle school 
• Building an addition to Steilacoom High School  
• Modernizing the existing portion of Steilacoom High School  
• Building a new multi-purpose room at Anderson Island Elementary School 
• Completing other priority renovations/modernization projects  

 
Bond sales were executed in two phases: June 2005, $22 million dollars and July 2006, $33.9 
million dollars.  The 2005 bond projects are complete. 
 
The board passed in November 2012 Resolution 787-10-24-12 to approve the addition of a 
modular building containing two classrooms to be placed at Saltar's Point Elementary to 
accommodate enrollment growth.  The two classrooms are now in place. 
 
In 2008, the Board of Directors gave the Citizens Advisory Committee the task of exploring 
options regarding the buildings that make up the old Pioneer Middle School site. The 
Committee’s recommendation included consolidation of all SHSD administrative offices into the 
1918 building.  The District converted the 1918 Building into an administrative building in 
August of 2014 which has enabled all of the District’s administrative staff to be housed in one 
building.   
 
In the fall of 2016, the Board of Directors discussed the development of a comprehensive 
facility improvement plan for the District.  It adopted a community based process that included 
board presentations, listening sessions, and a community based committee.  The committee 
provided a set of recommendations to the Board of Directors in October 2018 and finalized 
their recommendations in November of 2018.  The committee recommendations included:  

Packet page 162 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 13 of 35 
2023-2028 

• Increasing facility capacity at each school level,  
• Construction of a maintenance/transportation facility, and  
• Special program spaces to meet the needs of students and the community.   

 
In October 2022, the Board of Directors resolved to place a bond measure before voters in 
February 2023 that will: 

• Build an elementary school in DuPont, addressing capacity issues at all elementary 
schools within the district; 

• Construct an expanded performing arts center at the high school; 
• Provide an additional athletic field and a covered stadium at the high school; 
• Increase facility capacity at the middle and high school; 
• Improve traffic safety and flow at all schools; and 
• Address ongoing facility safety and security needs for students. 

 
4. Future Capital Facility Plans 
 
The District’s projected enrollment growth will continue to be focused at the elementary level 
but also with some growth at the secondary level.   The District began implementation of class 
size reduction, as reflected in the standard of service in this Capital Facilities Plan, and expects 
to make further adjustments in future updates to the Capital Facilities Plans.  Elementary 
schools are also impacted by increased special education needs, increases in other programs 
such as ELL classes, and potential development on Anderson Island.   
 
To meet these capacity needs, the Board envisions the need for another school for K-5 students 
in DuPont.    If a new elementary school is not constructed, the District would need to add 
additional classrooms at Chloe Clark as an interim planning measure.   In July 2022, the Board 
approved the purchase of a 10 acre elementary school site in the City of DuPont located on 
McNeil Street adjacent to Marshall Circle.  The District intends to construct the next elementary 
school on this site. 
 
 Subject to voter approval, the District intends to construct this school during the six year 
planning period of this Capital Facilities Plan.  
 
To address planned facility needs, the District may add additional capacity at Pioneer Middle 
School and Steilacoom High School.  This additional capacity may be general classrooms or 
special program space to address career and technical education program needs or other 
program enhancements determined by the district.      
 
 
It is the intent of the District to use a portion of the 13.50 acre parcel directly north of 
Steilacoom High School for additional parking and for curricular and extracurricular athletic 
fields.   At Pioneer Middle School and Steilacoom High School, four additional classrooms can 
be added, but a separate conditional use permit will be required before any construction.  
These classrooms could accommodate up to 125 additional students at both the middle and 
high school levels.   
 

Packet page 163 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 14 of 35 
2023-2028 

The District will also consider other alternatives to address enrollment growth, including but 
not limited to adding modular classrooms at existing schools within the District.  
 
 
  

Packet page 164 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 15 of 35 
2023-2028 

TAB II PARCEL SUMMARY BY LOCATION  
 
The following tab contains information on the District’s current property holdings.   
 
The list of parcels and approximate square feet data is from Pierce County Assessor-Treasurer 
online database files: 
 
 

School/Facility/Parcel 
Description 

Address 
City 

Pierce County 
Tax ID parcel # 

Approximate 
acreage 

Notes 

Steilacoom High School 54 Sentinel 
Steilacoom 

7615000681 32.50 With two easements 
from DSHS. 13.50 
acres were purchased 
north of the HS in late 
2010 

Pioneer Middle School 1750 Bob’s Hollow 
Lane 
DuPont 

0119263011 20.00  

Old Pioneer Middle School 
Site 

511 Chambers 
Steilacoom 

2305000600 3.26 Converted into 
administrative building 
in 2014 

Saltar’s Point Elementary 
School 

908 3rd St 
Steilacoom 

7260000072 7.69 2008 New parcel 
number 
7260000072 

Cherrydale Primary School 1201 Galloway 
Steilacoom 

0219052048 
 

7.24  
 

Parcels 0219052045 
and 0219052046 were 
sold to Pierce County 
in 2011; parcel 
0219052047 was sold 
in 2012 

Chloe Clark Elementary 
School 

1700 Palisades Blvd 
DuPont 

0119264010 10.01  

Anderson Island 
Elementary School 

13005 Camas Rd 
Anderson Island 

0119052002 N/A Parcel is owned by the 
AI Park Board and is 
leased to SHSD  

District Office Annex 510 Chambers St 
Steilacoom 

2305000651 0.20  

Vacant Undeveloped 
Parcel 

Sentinel Drive 
Steilacoom 

7615000022 13.5 Purchased in 2010 

Vacant Undeveloped 
Parcel 

Williamson Place 
DuPont 

3001000010- 
3001000050 

14.71 Purchased in 2012 
Surplused and under 
contract 

Vacant Undeveloped 
Parcel 

McNeil Street 
Dupont 

0119341006 10.0 Purchased in 2022 

Maintenance Facility Diggs St, Steilacoom  3.7   Purchased in 2021 

 
 
 
 
  

Packet page 165 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 16 of 35 
2023-2028 

TAB III STUDENT ENROLLMENT TRENDS 
 
1. DISTRICT GROWTH 
 
Steilacoom Historical School District No. 1 has reviewed historical demographic trends and 
actual enrollments.  The combined student population from the Town of Steilacoom, the City of 
DuPont, and Pierce County is expected to result in an overall increase in student enrollment 
due to increased residential growth within these communities.     
 
Using in-school building enrollment figures, the District’s elementary school enrollment (grades 
K-5) grew from 966 students in 2003 to 1,406 students in 2022.  During that same period, the 
Middle School (grades 6-8) student enrollment grew from 529 students to 719 students.  
Overall student enrollment for grades 9-12 increased from 675 students in 2003 to 820 FTE 
(headcount of 908 students) in 2022.  Fall 2022 enrollment figures show continued long-term 
growth at the elementary and secondary levels, though the most current years have been 
impacted by COVID-19. 
 
The District implemented the following grade configuration model to address actual and 
projected growth of the elementary school student population:  
 

a. Anderson Island Elementary School: Grades Pre-K-3rd  
b. Cherrydale Primary School:   Grades Pre-K to 3rd 
c. Chloe Clark Elementary School:   Grades Pre-K to 3rd  
d. Saltar’s Point Elementary School:  Grades 4th to 5th  
e. Pioneer Middle School:     Grades 6th to 8th  
f. Steilacoom High School:    Grades 9th to 12th  

 
This grade configuration model may change once a new elementary school is operational to 
allow elementary students in DuPont to be served within DuPont. 
 
2. ENROLLMENT AND PROJECTIONS 
 
The Washington State Superintendent of Public Instruction (OSPI) provides enrollment 
projections based on the “Cohort Survival” method.  This method of enrollment projection uses 
historic patterns of student progression by grade level to measure the portion of students 
moving from one grade level up to the next cohort or grade.  This ratio or survival rate is used in 
conjunction with current birth rates as a base for statewide enrollment projections.  The OSPI 
system is useful, but has obvious inadequacies in representing the unique growth conditions of 
individual school districts.  Historically, OSPI projections in growing school districts tend to 
underestimate the actual student enrollment growth.  Furthermore, the OSPI projections do 
not wholly anticipate new students from new development within the District.  As such, the 
OSPI projections are considered conservative.  In addition, recent enrollment anomalies due to 
the COVID-19 pandemic make the OSPI projections fairly unreliable for predicting near-term 
future enrollment growth. 
 
     

Packet page 166 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 17 of 35 
2023-2028 

 
School enrollment growth and distribution over the next six years in Steilacoom Historical 
School District will be influenced by several factors.  A primary factor will be overall population 
growth in the District.   
 
The District is using a modified cohort survival projection for purposes of this Capital Facilities 
Plan.  The cohort projection was prepared by a consultant and considers historic growth trends, 
future building plans and availability, birth rates, as well as economic and various other factors 
that contribute to overall population growth.  The modified cohort survival rates provide 
projections that balance between achieving recency and stability.  
 
The cohort projection does not factor in the COVID 19 related enrollment decrease that the 
Steilacoom Historical School District experienced for the 2020-21 school year and fall of the 
2021-22 school year.  Most school districts in the Puget Sound area and across the state 
experienced enrollment decreases recently with remote learning and uncertainties related to 
school instruction.  The SHSD enrollment decrease in 2020-21 was larger on a percentage basis 
than many other local school districts.  While the District does not expect this to be an ongoing 
enrollment trend, and expects enrollments to rebound to historical trend levels once the COVID 
19 event is behind us.  However, it may take an additional year for enrollment and the 
associated increases in student population to return to the prior trend.  Because the District 
updates this CFP on an annual basis, adjustments will be made annually as needed if COVID 19 
assumptions are incorrect. 
 
The following tables provide the District’s historical enrollment data and the projections by 
grade level through the 2027-28 school year.   
 
 

Packet page 167 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 18 of 35 
2023-2028 

HISTORICAL STUDENT ENROLLMENT 2006-2020  
ACTUAL HEADCOUNT ENROLLMENTS ON OCTOBER 1st* 

  
  

GRADES  2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 
K**  204 224 206 217 244 255 212 237 233 247 238 248 199 233 216 
1st Grade  235 232 224 223 231 234 256 223 263 242 245 269 238 226 248 
2nd Grade  199 238 240 255 234 214 229 271 215 256 237 261 253 244 226 
3rd Grade  231 211 241 242 249 227 207 243 267 220 258 248 236 258 230 
4th Grade  216 226 214 257 263 238 196 206 219 264 226 248 228 232 252 
5th Grade  236 219 234 244 246 264 252 208 216 228 262 223 221 232 233 
6th Grade  244 240 221 253 241 265 268 269 247 239 239 299 230 239 225 
7th Grade  194 242 227 238 261 236 247 277 280 242 249 247 273 236 255 
8th Grade  218 203 227 248 230 266 228 253 280 277 231 261 242 272 240 
9th Grade  199 232 205 242 226 224 247 231 255 278 291 232 240 240 263 
10th Grade  188 210 223 201 225 221 217 258 231 262 268 298 222 245 236 
11th Grade  197 187 219 223 204 226 212 215 238 173 231 251 245 194 231 
12th Grade  119 160 159 179 189 190 208 200 196 190 162 193 218 219 178 
                 
Total 
Enrollment 

  
2,680 

 
2,824 

 
2,840 

 
3,022 

 
3,043 

 
3,060 

 
2,979 

 

 
3,091 

 
3,140 

 
3,118 

 
3,137 

 
3,278 

 
3,045 

 
3,068  

 
3,033 

 
 
*Reflects in-person instruction only except for 2020 COVID 19 Remote Learning enrollment. 
**Earlier years converted to full-day K for purposes of comparison with enrollment projections. 

 
  

Packet page 168 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 19 of 35 
2023-2028 

 

 
ENROLLMENT HEADCOUNT BY GRADE SPAN 

 
   
 

Enrollment by 
Grade Span 

 
Oct. 2021 

 
Oct. 2022 

 
Projected 

Enrollment 
2022-23 

 
Projected 

Enrollment 
2023-24 

 
Projected 

Enrollment 
2024-25 

 
Projected 

Enrollment 
2025-26 

 
Projected 

Enrollment 
2026-27 

 
Projected 

Enrollment 
2027-28 

Primary Elementary (K-3) 961 920 1,143 1,135 1,139 1,112 1,109 1,106 
Intermediate Elementary (4-5) 464 485 553 555 535 553 572 545 
Middle School (6-8) 745 720 862 894 905 926 913 927 
High School (9-12) 898 908 1,120 1,148 1,179 1,205 1,194 1,237 
TOTAL 3,068 3,033 3,678 3,732 3,758 3,796 3,788 3,815 

    
  

Source:  BERK 2020 Demographic Report (complete report on file with District) 
 
 
 

Packet page 169 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 20 of 35 
2023-2028 

TAB IV LEVEL OF SERVICE 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
The Growth Management Act (GMA) requires that school districts provide “level of service” or 
“school capacity” data as a component of their Capital Facilities Plan (CFP).  The GMA was 
developed, in part, to help ensure public services, including schools, necessary to support 
development will be adequate to serve said development at the time the development is 
available for occupancy and use, without decreasing current service levels below locally 
established minimum standards.  In other words, each public service needs to clearly define 
their service level so that service level can be maintained in the face of new development. 
 
2. DEFINITION 
 
The “level of service” is based on the number of classrooms available at each school and the 
desired average class load.  Inherent in the level of service are the types and amounts of space 
required to accommodate the District’s adopted educational program.  The educational 
program standards which typically drive facility space needs include grade configuration, 
optimal facility size, class size, educational program offerings, as well as classroom utilization 
and scheduling requirements. 
 
In addition to factors that affect the amount of space required, government mandates and 
community expectations may affect how classroom space is used.  For example, State 
requirements related to full day kindergarten and reduced class sizes impact the level of 
service.   In addition, traditional educational programs offered by school districts are often 
supplemented by non-traditional or special programs such as special education – resource and 
self-contained,  special education 18-21 year old transitional program, Multilingual Language 
Learner (MLL), Title I, Learning Assistance Program (LAP), music education, highly capable, 
special education preschool, computer labs, career and technical education, etc.  These special 
or non-traditional educational programs can have a significant impact on the available student 
capacity of school facilities.  For example, the District currently has approximately 425 students 
(approximately 12.9% of its total student population) participating in Special Education 
Programs. 
  
Variations in student capacity between schools often result in special or non-traditional 
programs offered at specific schools.  These special programs require classroom space, which 
can reduce the permanent capacity of some of the buildings housing these programs.  Some 
students, for example, leave their regular classroom for a short period of time to receive 
instruction in these special programs.  Newer schools within the District have been designed to 
accommodate many of these programs.  However, older schools often require space 
modifications to accommodate special programs, and in some circumstances, these 
modifications may reduce the overall classroom capacities of the buildings. 
 
District educational program standards will undoubtedly change in the future as a result of 
changes in special programs, class sizes, grade span configurations, use of new technology, and 
other physical aspects of the school facilities.  The school space inventory will be reviewed 

Packet page 170 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 21 of 35 
2023-2028 

periodically and adjusted for any changes to the educational program standards.  These 
changes will also be reflected in future updates of this Capital Facilities Plan. 
 
The District does not consider portables as being ideal instructional space for students and/or 
staff members.  By design, portable classrooms separate their occupants from the rest of a 
school’s student body and/or staff members.  In addition, the increased enrollments that 
portables afford may exceed the optimal size of the “core” facilities of the permanent 
building(s); such spaces as the gymnasium, the library, the restrooms, the main office, and the 
food service facilities.   
 
3. SUMMARY 
 
The Growth Management Act (GMA) requires that school districts provide “level of service” or 
“school capacity” data to support requests for impact fees from residential developers.  With 
respect to public schools, the “level of service” is a quantifiable measure of the capacity 
available to support the instruction of students. 
 
Steilacoom Historical School District No. 1 has elected to define its “level of service” in terms of 
each student’s share of the District’s permanent school facilities, with reference to the District’s 
standard for average class load and identification of classrooms available for regular instruction.  
The level of service (LOS) is dictated by the amount of space required to accommodate the 
District’s adopted educational program.  The LOS will change as the District changes its 
educational program and it must be reviewed and modified periodically. 
 
Steilacoom Historical School District No. 1 has adopted an organization that houses 
kindergarten through fifth grade in elementary schools, sixth through eighth grade in middle 
school, and ninth through twelfth grade in high school. 
 
The District has adopted a traditional calendar beginning in late August or early September 
(prior to Labor Day) and ending in mid-June, and a traditional daily schedule with academic 
classes beginning in the early morning (between 7:35 a.m. and 9:05 a.m.) and ending 6.5 hours 
after the start time.  Although the District continues to study alternate organizations, calendars, 
and schedules, the District believes the adopted organization is educationally sound and 
reflects community values. 
 
The District’s educational program includes individual and small group work, as well as full class 
activities.  Portable classrooms, which are neither intended for nor function as long term 
educational space, are excluded from the level of service calculation.  Portables are considered 
adequate only for supplemental programs and interim housing. 
 
The capacity for each facility is established by multiplying the regular classrooms available by 
the District’s standard for average class load (the “Standard of Service”).  Spaces used for 
special program needs are excluded from the definition of regular classrooms.  Core facilities 
and special use facilities are compared to classroom capacity to confirm that facility capacity is 
not limited by limitations in core facilities.  
 
The District’s adopted Standard of Service is as follows: 

Packet page 171 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 22 of 35 
2023-2028 

 
 Standard of Service 
High School 25 students/classroom 
Middle School  25 students/classroom 
Elementary  20 students/classroom 

 
 
Using the Standard of Service and updated information regarding classroom utilization, the 
District’s current facility capacity, current enrollment, and projected facility need, is as follows: 
 

 
      

Facility 
Area 
(SF) 

Teaching 
Stations** 

Existing 
Capacity 

(Based on 
Service 

Standards) 

Actual 
October 

2022 
Enrollment 

 
 
 
Projected 
2027/28 

Enrollment  
Steilacoom High School 133,374 41 1,025 908 1,237  
Pioneer Middle School  103,128 31 775 719 927  
Saltar's Point Elementary* 55,235 17 340 486 545  
Anderson Island Elementary 11,366 2 40 21 13  
Cherrydale Primary 42,083 17 340 369 453  
Chloe Clark Elementary 59,333 26 520 530 649  
Total Elementary   1,220  1,660  
Total Secondary   1,800  2,164  

*Does not include modular classroom capacity. 
**Regular classroom use only. 
 

 
 
  

Packet page 172 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 23 of 35 
2023-2028 

School District Cost Per Student* 
 
Each year, Steilacoom Historical School District provides to Pierce County the costs expended 
per student as an update to the Capital Facilities Plan.  Building and equipment costs at each 
educational facility are rounded up and reflect the District’s capital improvement campaign 
costs as completed in 2010. 
 

School Facility Building Costs  Equipment Costs Total Costs  
Anderson Island Elementary School $    946,000 $     50,000 $     996,000 
Cherrydale Primary School $ 9,457,000 $   400,000 $  9,857,000 
Chloe Clark Elementary School $ 9,727,000 $   450,000 $10,177,000 
Saltar’s Point Elementary School $ 6,765,000 $   350,000 $  7,115,000 
Pioneer Middle School $34,244,000 $1,800,000 $36,044,000 
Steilacoom High School $30,597,000 $   630,000 $31,227,000 

 
 
 
 
The current cost per student based upon capacity enrollment figures is as follows: 
  Elementary Student   $23,070   

Middle School Student  $46,508 
  High School Student   $30,465 
 
 
 
*Information as required by Pierce County.  Reflects cost per student based on project costs 
and capacity identified at the time of construction of the relevant facilities.  Does not reflect 
cost per student based upon updated facility construction costs and use.  
 

Packet page 173 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 24 of 35 
2023-2028 

TAB V THE DISTRICT’S CONSTRUCTION PLAN 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
From district to district, it is common to find variations in the grade level configurations, class 
size requirements and instructional programs depending upon a local community’s educational 
philosophy and the needs of the students to be served.  Such variations between districts do 
impact the design and the cost of newly constructed school facilities. 
 
In late 2016, the district began a planning process with a Capital Facilities Advisory Committee 
made up of community members, staff, district officials, students, Town of Steilacoom and City 
of DuPont representatives. The Committee began their work in 2018. The purpose of the 
Steilacoom Historical School District’s Facilities Advisory Committee (FAC) was: 

• Establish a long-term Capital Projects Plan 
• Recommend short- and long-term solutions related to the District’s deferred 

maintenance, educational adequacy of schools, safety and security, future plans and use 
of district property; and 

• Consider a future capital bond proposition. 

The Capital Facilities Advisory Committee was presented data to study and evaluate the overall 
condition of district facilities to identify and prioritize potential facility modifications, 
replacements, additions and/or closures to best enhance student achievement opportunities, 
and support the ongoing economic development and a healthy community. This data included: 

• Facility Condition Assessment - Deferred Maintenance; 
• Educational Standards; 
• Safety and Security Standards; 
• Technology; 
• School Capacity; 
• Enrollment; 
• Demographics; and 
• Financial Data. 

2. THE NEW CONSTRUCTION PROGRAM 
 
The ability to move forward on the construction of any new school facility in the Steilacoom 
Historical School District is dependent on many factors.  First, the District needs to have local 
funding available to pay for the cost of new school facilities.  Normally, school districts secure 
the majority of their local funds through the sale of general obligation bonds, as approved by 
the qualified voters of their districts.  The authority to issue and sell such bonds rests in the 
Constitution and laws of the State of Washington, including RCW 28A.530.010 and RCW 
84.52.056. 
 
The State of Washington has set forth recommended site size standards, as defined in WAC 
392-342-020.  Specifically, for an elementary school, the minimum standard is five (5) acres plus 

Packet page 174 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 25 of 35 
2023-2028 

an additional one (1) acre for each one hundred (100) pupils of a school’s maximum enrollment.  
For junior and senior high schools, the minimum standard is ten (10) acres plus an additional 
one (1) acre for each one hundred (100) pupils of a school’s maximum enrollment.  These 
recommended acreages provide space for the school building(s) and the appropriate support 
facilities such as play fields, athletic facilities and parking. 
 
Of particular importance to Steilacoom Historical School District No. 1, is the eligibility for State 
School Construction Assistance.  Such State assistance is used along with local funds to pay for 
the cost of new school facilities.  However, State monies cannot be used to purchase school 
sites, to make off-site improvements and/or fund those specific items spoken to in WAC 392-
343-120.  The formula for determining the exact amount of State funding assistance a district 
can receive is set forth in WAC 392-343-020. 
 
To address capacity needs, the District plans to construct a new elementary school in the City of 
DuPont.  The District has completed the conceptual design stage for this school but expects that 
it will be available for occupancy by 2025.  The District’s voters will need to approve a bond 
measure to fund the construction of this school.  The District may also consider adding capacity 
at Pioneer Middle School to address long term enrollment growth.  In addition, the District 
plans to address enrollment capacity, make field improvements, and enhance other district 
facilities for curricular and co-curricular programs at Steilacoom High School.   
 
 
3. SUMMARY 
 
To accommodate enrollment growth, Steilacoom Historical School District No. 1 completed the 
2005 Capital Improvement Program which benefitted four schools.  The completion of Phases II 
and III to Chloe Clark Elementary School resulted in a student capacity increase from the 
original 175 student capacity. The 2,865 square foot multipurpose building at Anderson Island 
Elementary was added to accommodate up to 40 students.  Pioneer Middle School, which can 
hold 775 students, opened in August 2008.  The addition and modernization of the existing 
Steilacoom High School was completed in 2009.  Steilacoom High School can now hold 1,025 
students.   
 
Currently, Saltar’s Point Elementary, Chloe Clark Elementary and Cherrydale Primary are all 
over capacity based on Service Standards (see page 22).   
 
To address projected long term growth in the District, the District plans to construct a new 
elementary school in DuPont and may add capacity at Pioneer Middle School, and Steilacoom 
High School, all within the six year planning period of this Capital Facilities Plan.   The District 
may also add portable facilities as needed to provide interim capacity at all grade levels. 
 
 
  

Packet page 175 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 26 of 35 
2023-2028 

TAB VI THE DISTRICT’S FINANCE PLAN 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
The Steilacoom Historical School District No. 1 clearly recognizes the long-term value of capital 
facilities planning.  The execution of the 2005 Capital Improvement Program, discussed earlier 
in this report, helped address the District’s need for permanent facilities to accommodate 
students from new housing developments.   
 
The District’s long-planned modernization of its older facilities (Cherrydale, Saltar’s Point, and 
Anderson Island Elementary Schools), construction of a future elementary school in DuPont, 
and the addition of modular classrooms is dependent on a means of financing modernization or 
new construction.  The costs associated with new construction and modernization identified in 
the District’s Construction Plan and anticipated state and local funding are presented in Tab 5.  
The District uses an impact fee methodology that is based upon the Pierce County school 
impact fee ordinance. 
 
In this CFP, based on current enrollment projections and the need to construct a new school to 
meet capacity needs related to growth, the District is requesting school impact fees.    
 
The District’s Funding Plan identifies the specific funding sources, amounts of funding, and the 
unique relationships that exist between funding sources for the projects spelled out in the 
District’s Comprehensive Plan. 
 
 
2. COST FACTORS 
 
Factors:  A number of factors influence the total cost and, specifically, the local share of any 
new school construction project.  The major factors that impact the cost of new school 
construction are as follows: 
 
1. The per acre cost of school sites will vary considerably from district to district.  In 

general, the more urban the district tends to be, the more costly the school sites. 
 
2. The acreage of available property and the use ability of acreage will not always match 

the preferred school site sizes. 
 
3. The proximity of needed utilities (i.e., water, sewer, electricity, etc.) and roadways to a 

new school site are oftentimes a significant cost variable. 
 
4. The nature of the instructional programs housed in school facilities drastically impact 

the cost of those facilities.  The square foot cost of senior high schools is almost always 
higher than elementary and middle schools.  The square footage costs of middle schools 
are usually higher than elementary schools.  Specialized facilities for Vocational and 
Special Education programs can also increase construction costs. 

 

Packet page 176 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 27 of 35 
2023-2028 

5. The posture of the local governmental planning agencies (i.e., City or County) will affect 
such items as off-site street improvements, landscaping, street signaling, and signage, 
etc. 

 
6. The “bidding climate” at the time a new school project comes on line is terribly 

important.  Normally, the less construction work available the more competitive the 
general contractors become and vise-versa. 

 
7. The experiences and competence of the lowest bidding and general contractor and their 

major subcontractors can also impact the final cost of any new school project. 
 
8. The State’s “funding assistance percentage”, as determined in accordance with the 

formula set forth in RCW 28A.525.166, establishes the relationship between the local 
and state funding of any new school construction project. 

 
9. The enrollment projection provisions of the State’s “space allocations” determine just 

how much area of a new school facility will be eligible for State School Construction 
Funding Assistance.  Building a new school (i.e., elementary, middle, senior high) 
without full “unhoused” eligibility increases the amount of local funds that have to go 
into a project. 

 
10. The State funding assistance formula also impacts the level of state financial assistance.  

See WAC 392-343-060. 
 
Site Acquisition:  The first major expense of any new school construction project is the cost to 
purchase the site.  Property acquisition cannot be funded with State School Construction 
Funding Assistance.  Land costs are strictly a local school district expense. 
 
In addition to the location, site size and availability to utilities, other factors can also impact the 
cost of school sites.  For example, the general condition of the real estate market, zoning and 
the overall construction suitability of a site do influence the price. 
 
Construction Estimates:  The second major expense of any new school construction project is 
the cost of actually developing the site and constructing the buildings(s).  Such costs include 
payment for planning, designing, engineering, constructing, furnishing, and equipping new 
school facilities.  In addition, at times, new portable classrooms are purchased and sited at new 
schools and/or existing portable classrooms are moved to new school sites. 
 
  

Packet page 177 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 28 of 35 
2023-2028 

3. FUNDING SOURCES 
 
School districts utilize budgets consisting of a number of discrete funds.  However, for the most 
part, the capital needs of any school system are addressed with the Capital Projects Fund and 
the Debt Service Fund. 
 

1. The Capital Projects fund is used for purposes such as:  (a) to finance the purchase and 
development of school sites; (b) the construction of new facilities and the 
modernization of existing facilities; and (c) the purchase of initial equipment, library 
books and textbooks for new facilities.  Revenues accruing to the Capital Project Fund 
come primarily from bond sale proceeds, capital levy collections, and state matching 
funds.  However, Revenues from the General Fund, the sale of property and 
contributions can also be accrued to the Capital Projects Fund.  School impact fees and 
mitigation fees are maintained in segregated accounts. 
 

2. The Debt Service Fund is used as a mechanism to pay for bonds.  When a bond issue 
passes, a school district sells bonds that have a face value and an interest rate.  Local 
property taxes are adjusted to provide the funds necessary to meet the approved 
periodic payments on sold bonds.  The proceeds from the taxes collected for this 
purpose are deposited in the Debt Service Fund and drawn out for payments at the 
appropriate times. 
 

As noted earlier, school districts receive funds for capital program purposes from a variety of 
sources.  Those sources are described as follows: 
 
Bonds:  Bonds are financial instruments having a face value and an interest rate, which is 
determined at the time and by the conditions of their sale.  Bonds are backed by the “full faith 
and credit” of the issuing school district and may be paid from proceeds derived from a specific 
increase in the property taxes for that purpose.  The increase in the taxes results in an “excess 
levy” of taxes beyond the constitutional limit, so the bonds must be approved by a vote of the 
people in the jurisdiction may not exceed five (5) percent of the assessed value of the property 
within that jurisdiction at the time of issuance.  Bonds are multi-year financial instruments, 
generally issued for 10-20 years.  Because of their long-lasting impact, they require both an 
extraordinary plurality of votes and a specific minimum number of voters for validation.  The 
positive votes must equal or exceed 60 percent of the total number of voters in the school 
district who cast ballots in the last general election. 
 
Proceeds from bond sales are limited by bond covenants and must be used for the purpose(s) 
for which the bonds are issued.  They cannot be converted to a non-capital or operating 
purpose.  The life of the improvement resulting from the bonds must meet or exceed the term 
of the bonds themselves. 
 
Capital Levies:  Capital Levies differ from bonds in that they do not result in the issuance of a 
financial instrument and, therefore, do not affect the “bonded indebtedness” of a school 
district.  This method of financing is a straight increase in property tax rates to produce a voter-
approved dollar amount.  The amount generated from the capital levy is then available to a 

Packet page 178 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 29 of 35 
2023-2028 

district in the approved year.  The actual levy rate itself is determined by dividing the number of 
dollars approved by the assessed valuation of the total district at the time the taxes are set by 
the County Council.  While a typical period for capital levies is one or two years, they can be 
approved for up to a six-year period at one election.  The amounts to be collected are identified 
for each year separately and the tax rates set for each individual year.  Like bond issues, capital 
levies must be used for the specific capital purpose(s) that they were passed.  They cannot be 
converted to a non-capital or operating purpose. 
 
State Funding Assistance:  The State of Washington has a Common School Construction Fund.  
The State Board of Education is responsible for administration of the funds and the 
establishment of matching ratios. The Office of the Superintendent of Public Instruction 
(OSPI), , has determined that Steilacoom School District’s 2021 funding assistance ratio is 
53.48%  for those expenses that are defined as eligible for state funding assistance.  However, 
the District’s planned capacity project included in this six-year plan, a new elementary school, 
will not qualify for state funding.  
 
The base to which the percent is applied is the cost of construction, as determined by the 
Construction Cost Allocation. The Construction Cost Allocation is an index of construction costs 
that is used by the state to hold, define, or limit their level of support.  This particular 
construction cost index rarely matches the actual cost of school construction in districts across 
Washington State.  Nevertheless, the Construction Cost Allocation for school construction costs 
for July 2021 was $238.22 per square foot. 
 
The formula for determining the amount of state matching support can be expressed as 
AxBxC=D, where 
 
A= eligible area (determined by OSPI’s student square footage allowances) 
B= The Construction Cost Allocation (in dollars per square foot) 
C= A school district’s applicable state funding assistance rate 
D= the amount of state fiscal assistance to which a district will be entitled.  Qualification for 
state matching funds involves an application process.  Districts may submit information for 
consideration by the State Board of Education, which meets once every two months during the 
year.  Once approved, the district qualifies for matching funds in a sequence, which recognizes 
the existing approvals of previous submittals.  Failure of a school district to proceed with a 
project in a timely manner can result in loss of a district’s “place in line”. 
 
New construction projects are eligible for a state reimbursement at 100% of the Construction 
Cost Allocation for matchable construction costs.  In addition, state statute provides that 
modernization of new-in-lieu-of replacement projects are eligible for state reimbursement at 
100% of the Construction Cost Allocation. 
 
Funds for the state match come from the Common School Construction Fund using revenues 
accruing predominately from the sale of renewable resources, primarily timber, from state 
school lands being set aside by the Enabling Act of 1889.  If these sources are insufficient to 
meet current needs, the legislature can appropriate additional funds or the Superintendent of 
Public Instruction can prioritize projects for funding. 
 

Packet page 179 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 30 of 35 
2023-2028 

As noted in WAC 392-343-057, in the event that state matching monies are not available to 
fund a specific school project, then school districts may proceed at their own financial risk.  At 
such time state monies do become available, reimbursement will be made to the district for the 
state’s share of said project. 
 
The District is currently not eligible for state reimbursement for new construction.   
 
Impact Fees:  According to RCW 82.02.050, the definition of an impact fee is “… a payment of 
money imposed upon development as a condition of development approval to pay for public 
facilities needed to serve new growth and development, and that is reasonably related to the 
new development that creates additional demand and need for public facilities, that is a 
proportionate share of the cost of the public facilities, and that is used for facilities that 
reasonably benefit the new development.  “Impact fee” does not include a reasonable permit or 
application fee.” 
 
Impact Fees can be collected where a District demonstrates an “un-housed student need” as 
determined by applying the district’s level of service to projected growth from new residential 
development.  The amounts to be charged are calculated based on the costs for providing the 
space for the projected number of students in each residential unit.   
 
The District determines the cost per unit by using a student generation rate.  The Pierce County 
School Impact Fee Ordinance, Table 4A-1 of Chapter 4A.30 of the Pierce County Code, identifies 
the school impact fee formula and defines the “Student Factor” as follows:   
 
"Student Factor" is the number derived by a School District to describe how many students of 
each grade span are expected to be generated by development activity. Student factors shall be 
based on District records of average actual student generated rates for new developments 
constructed over a period of not more than five years prior to the date of the fee calculation; 
provided that, if such information is not available in the District or if there are no developments 
in the District similar to that being proposed, the District may use data from districts with 
similar demographics, or, if no other data sources are reasonably available, county-wide 
averages.   
 
For purposes of this year’s CFP, the District is relying on a 2021 student generation rate study 
prepared by an independent consultant.  The District has, in previous updates to its Capital 
Facilities Plan, used student factors from nearby school districts where the sample size of 
development within the District has not been adequate to produce a reliable District-specific 
student factor.  The District will revisit student generation rates in future updates to the Capital 
Facilities Plan. 
  

Packet page 180 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 31 of 35 
2023-2028 

 
The Student Factors are as follows: 
 

Single Family Dwelling Units: 
Elementary – K through 5:   .147 
Middle School – 6 through 8:  .052 
High School – 9 through 12:   .108 
 
Total:     .307 
 
Multi-Family Dwelling Units:  
Elementary – K through 5:   .060 
Middle School – 6 through 8:  .017 
High School – 9 through 12:   .023 
 
Total:     .100 
 

Source:  BERK (2021 study on file with District). 
 
For impact fees, the District’s Board of Directors must first adopt a Capital Facilities Plan with 
recommended fees and then, the towns, cities, and counties located within the District 
boundaries must then adopt a school impact fee ordinance and adopt or update the District’s 
recommended fee.   Within the Steilacoom Historical School District, those general government 
jurisdictions include the Town of Steilacoom, the City of DuPont and Pierce County. 
 
Furthermore, developers may contribute properties which will have value to a district.  In such 
cases, the developer is entitled to a credit for the actual cost of the provided property.  This 
credit can reduce or eliminate the mitigation or impact fee that would be chargeable under the 
mitigation/impact fee calculation. 
 
The District collects school impact fees from new residential development in unincorporated 
Pierce County and the Town of Steilacoom.  The City of DuPont must adopt a school impact fee 
ordinance for the City to collect school impact fees on behalf of the District.  The Pierce County 
school impact fee ordinance requires that the calculated fee be discounted by 50% and, in 
addition, artificially caps fees and updates the capped fee each year based upon an escalation 
factor.  The Town of Steilacoom generally uses the District’s recommended fee as a basis for 
the fee amount.   
 
As noted above, the District utilized an independent consultant to research the student 
generation rate specific to the District in 2021.  The District plans to update the student 
generation study going forward.  The District will make decisions regarding any future 
adjustment to the impact fee as the CFP is updated annually.   
 
Enclosures 1 through 2 to this tab include the District’s 2022 impact fee calculations and data.   
 
  

Packet page 181 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 32 of 35 
2023-2028 

5. THE DISTRICT FUNDING PLAN 
 
The District’s Funding Plan is designed to identify the specific funding resources, the amounts of 
funding needed and the unique relationships that exist between funding sources for each of the 
capital projects set forth in the District’s Construction Plan.  The District does not expect to 
receive state matching funds for construction of the new elementary school.  The District 
anticipates that the new elementary school will cost approximately $27,000,000 (hard 
construction costs only).  The District’s voters will need to approve a bond measure to fund 
construction of the new school.  Impact fee revenue will also be used to fund the planning and 
construction of any new school or additions to existing schools identified as growth related 
projects.  Impact fees may also be used to fund portable facilities needed for interim growth-
related capacity. 
 
The District’s excess assessed value used to calculate the bond rate is $4,537,636 for the 2022 
levy year.  For the 2023 levy year, it increased to $5,395,857 
 
Other minor sources of funding include grants, bequests, and proceeds from the sales of excess 
property.  They are usually a small part of the total financing package. 
 
 
 

Packet page 182 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 33 of 35 
2023-2028 

 
 
ENCLOSURE 1 (Impact Fee Planning Factors) to TAB VI District Finance Plan  
 
 
Student Factors-Single/Multi-Family    Temporary Facilities Costs  
Elementary   .147/.060    Elementary   
Middle School   .052/.017    Middle School    
High School       .108/.023    High School      
 
 
Student Capacity Per Facility     Permanent/Temporary Square Footage 
Elementary         475     Elementary  168,017/1,927 
Middle School       600     Middle School  103,128 
High School     1,200     High School  133,374 
        Total   398,553/1,927 
 
 
Site Acreage Site      State Funding Assistance 
Elementary    10 acres    Rate:  53.28% (currently not eligible) 
Middle School  25 acres      
High School                40 acres    Construction Cost Allocation $246.83 
 
 
Site Cost per Acre      Gen. Obligation Bond Interest Rate 
Elementary  $480,000    Current Bond Buyer Index   3.86% 
Middle School    $480,000     
High School  $480,000         
         
 
New Facility Construction Cost     District Debt Service Tax Rate 
Elementary (475)  $54,000,000     Current $/1,000    $1.69 
      
         
SPI Square Footage per Student     Average Assessed Value 
Elementary (K-5)             90   Single Fam. Res.          $545,248 
Middle School (6-8)           108   Multi-Family Res.        $224,118 
High School (9-12)           130   P.C. Assessor-Treasurer 
Special Education             144    

                                     

Packet page 183 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 34 of 35 
2023-2028 

Average Assessed Value Percentage Changes by School District 
 
 

 
 
 
  

Packet page 184 of 185



 
SHSD Capital Facilities Plan  Page 35 of 35 
2023-2028 

 
ENCLOSURE 2 (Impact Fee Single/Multi-Family Dwelling Unit) to TAB VI District Finance Plan 

  

                                     

Packet page 185 of 185


	Agenda (p. 1)
	Steilacoom High School 21-22 AP Data Presentation.pdf (p. 4)
	Approval of Financial Reports.pdf (p. 16)
	Approval of September and October 2022 Accounts Payable and September 2022 Payroll.pdf (p. 27)
	Approval of September 21 2022 Regular Meeting Minutes.pdf (p. 28)
	Approval of Certificated Personnel Report.pdf (p. 34)
	Approval of Classified Personnel Report.pdf (p. 35)
	Approval of Maintenance Facility Change Order #4.pdf (p. 36)
	Bond Resolution 901-10-19-22.pdf (p. 70)
	IMC Social Studies Curriculum Update.pdf (p. 84)
	Policy 6700 Nutrition Health and Physical Education.pdf (p. 112)
	Pioneer Advisory Pilot Update.pdf (p. 118)
	District and School Improvement Plan Highlights.pdf (p. 125)
	2023-2028 Capital Facilities Plan Draft.pdf (p. 150)

